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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”)
of Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
£S5
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Director(s)”) of Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the
“Company”), | hereby present to you the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

This year has been an extraordinary one!

During this year, the economies of both Mainland China and
Hong Kong have shown a downward trend, especially the
financial markets of Hong Kong, which were facing the most
severe environment in years. However, despite challenging
market conditions, the Group, with the efforts of the Group’s
staff members, was still able to achieve a small peak of the
past few years during the Reporting Period. Compared to the
previous financial year, the turnover recorded a substantial
increase and a turnaround from loss to profit was achieved
during the Reporting Period, which was not an easy task in
such a market environment.

Given the changes in the business environment, the Group
had already started supply chain financing business as early as
2022, and recorded strong growth during the Reporting Period,
which demonstrated the demand and value of such financial
service in the market. The Group will continue to develop
supply chain financing business, and this sector will become
one of the most important businesses of the Group. In addition,
under the trend of emerging economy development, the Group
is determined to build an asset trust and management platform
that integrates elements of the emerging economy.

| have always believed that the economic and business
environment changes rapidly, with ups and downs, and there
are still huge business opportunities even in worse situations.
As such, | have great confidence that the Group will be able to
achieve robust growth amidst the storm.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere gratitude to the Group's shareholders,
customers and business partners for their continuous support,
and to our management and staff members for their diligence
and contribution to the business development of the Group.

Fok Yuk Tong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to the passing of a special resolution in relation to
the proposed change of company name by the shareholders
of the Company at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on
7 December 2023, the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman
Islands has approved the registration of the new name of the
Company and issued the certificate of incorporation on change
of name on 7 December 2023. Hence, the English name of the
Company has been changed from “PF Group Holdings Limited”
to “Gaoyu Finance Group Limited” and the Chinese name "0
O00000D000" has been adopted as the new dual
foreign name of the Company, with effect from 7 December
2023. The certificate of registration of alteration of name of
registered non-Hong Kong company was issued by Companies
Registry in Hong Kong on 21 December 2023, certifying that
the new English name “Gaoyu Finance Group Limited” also
known as "000000000O0O" have been registered
in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of (i) securities
dealing and brokerage services (Hong Kong and US stocks);
(i) placing and underwriting services; (iii) financing services
including loan financing, securities and IPO margin financing
and money lending; (iv) asset management services; (v) supply
chain financing; (vi) trust services; and (vii) advisory and
restructuring services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Securities Dealing and Brokerage Services

The Group conducts securities dealing and brokerage services
through Gaoyu Securities Limited (formerly known as Pacific
Foundation Securities Limited) (“GSL"), the operating
subsidiary of the Company, which is a corporation licensed
to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). The Group provides
securities dealing and brokerage services to customers for
trading in securities listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong and in the U.S. which comprise corporate and individual
customers. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 288 active
securities trading accounts which have at least one trade
during the Reporting Period (31 March 2023: 239), the total
transaction value in the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$1,315,495,000 compared to the Corresponding Period
of approximately HK$602,386,000. The Group's commission
income from securities dealing and brokerage services increased
by approximately 68.0% from approximately HK$1,234,000 in
the Corresponding Period to approximately HK$2,073,000 in
the Reporting Period.

The Group has initiated a brand re-building program for its
securities dealing and brokerage business to attract new clients,
and re-engaging and reactivating its existing client base. On
26 February 2024, the Group launched a new trading system
and new smartphone applications for its licensed corporation,
which is a more user-friendly and informative online system
for customers, with foreign stock trading capacity and lower
running costs. These improvements have significantly enhanced
the trading experience, offering greater efficiency and value
to clients of the Group. Through dedicated efforts to attract
new clients and re-engage existing ones, coupled with the
improvements made to the systems and the implementation of
the mobile applications, the Group expects to see a substantial
increase in online transactions, and thus its brokerage income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Placing and Underwriting Services

The Group conducts placing and underwriting services through
GSL. The Group acts as an underwriter or a sub-underwriter
or a placing agent or a sub-placing agent for companies listed
or to be listed on the Stock Exchange or for shareholders of
companies listed on the Stock Exchange for their fund raising
exercises such as IPOs, rights issue, open offer or placing of
new or existing shares or bonds.

Placing and underwriting fee and commission income
is principally affected by the number of engagements
participated by the Group, the size of engagements and the
commission rates. During the Reporting Period, there was
seven (Corresponding Period: three) placing and underwriting
engagements with a total transaction value of approximately
HK$72,735,000 (Corresponding Period: HK$9,899,000). The
Group's fee and commission income generated from placing
and underwriting activities was approximately HK$2,436,000 in
the Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: HK$396,000).

Other than listed companies, the Company intends to expand
its customer profile to cover non-listed companies, high net
worth clients, institutional clients, retail and corporate clients
and expand its scope of services to cover other services such as
debt placement services.

Loan Financing, Margin Financing and Money Lending
Services

Interest income from loan financing, margin financing and
money lending services mainly represents the interest income
generated from the provision of loan financing, margin
financing and money lending services for customers to
purchase securities listed on the Stock Exchange on a margin
basis, hire purchase and mortgage loan financing.

For the Reporting Period, interest income from loan financing,
margin financing and money lending services increased by
approximately 11.5% from approximately HK$8,061,000 for
the Corresponding Period to approximately HK$8,990,000. The
increase was attributable to the increase in margin loans over
the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Business model of the Group’s Money Lending
Business

The Group's money lending services are generally provided to
individual and corporate borrowers that have short-to-medium
term funding needs and could provide sufficient collaterals
for their borrowings in the form of mortgage loans (first or
second mortgage with residential or commercial properties as
collaterals) or hire purchases (vehicle financing) through an
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Gaoyu
Finance Limited (“GFL") (formerly known as PF Finance
Limited and has officially changed the name to Gaoyu Finance
Limited on 11 January 2024). The Group may also consider
personal loans without collaterals on a case-by-case basis.
GFL is a Money Lenders Licence holder registered under the
Money Lenders Ordinance, Cap. 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong (the “MLO"). The Group’s clientele is primarily acquired
through business referrals and introductions from the Group's
management, business partners or customers.

During the Reporting Period, the range of interest rate on
the Group’s fixed rate loans receivable was 2.75% to 13%
(Corresponding Period: 2.75% to 48%) per annum. The
Group generates interest income from such loan facility as
revenue. The Group recorded revenue from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$75,000 (Corresponding Period:
HK$681,000).

The Group’s credit risk assessment policy in respect of
its Money Lending Business

The Group's credit risk is mainly arising from its loan receivable
from customers. To monitor its credit risk, the Group sets out
the following credit policies which is documented in Credit
Policy Manual (the “Credit Policy Manual”) adopted by the
Group for its Money Lending Business.

In order to ensure adequate check and balances to prevent
undue reliance on decision of a single credit officer, the
board of directors of GFL delegates its own credit authority
to the approval committee (the “Approval Committee”),
a specialised committee established to assist any one of the
directors of GFL in overseeing the credit risk management. The
Approval Committee consists of three members, the current
composition including one of the directors of the GFL, one of
the directors of the Company and a director of other group
companies of the Group. All loans must be approved and
endorsed by any two members of the Approval Committee in
accordance with their credit approval limits for loans and the
approval guidelines as set out in the Credit Policy Manual.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The current approved credit positions of all GFL customers will
be continuously monitored and adjusted based on the latest
financial position of the customers or market conditions. In
order to protect GFL from the risk of customer’s default on
repayment, GFL will take the following preventive measures:

1. Credit Watchlist
A customer will be placed in the credit watchlist and will
be notified of such action accordingly when:

a) repayment is overdue for 7 days, or

b)  the value of the collateral dropped by 20% when
compared to the initial valuation of the collateral at
the time of credit extension, or

¢)  the customer is adversely affected by financial crisis.

A customer may be asked to provide additional collateral
in the forms acceptable by GFL in order to maintain
its established credit limit. Customers will also may be
informed of GFL's intended course of action, which could
include the request for early repayment if additional
collaterals are not furnished promptly.

2. Early Repayment
A customer that could not furnish additional collateral
will be subject to early repayment of whole or partial
outstanding amount.

3. Valuation of Collateral
To enable GFL to have up-to-date view of value of the
collateral, an updated valuation exercise will be conducted
against the whole portfolio in March each year.

As at 31 March 2024, two loans and interest receivables
remained outstanding (31 March 2023: three) with
the gross balance of approximately HK$2,199,000 (31
March 2023: HK$1,461,000). No loss allowance on loan
receivables was made for the Reporting Period (31 March
2023: Nil).

BIEET w1

0

ooGrLOOOO0OO0OOOOOOOOO
oboooocoooboboboooan
Ooo0DO0OO0O0O0o0oo00ooOoGrFLOODOD
ooooooooGerFrLOOODODOOO
ooo

oooooo
ooooooobooogogoooao
gooooooooooooooo

a) Ooooor7ooo

by ODOODODODODOOODOOODOOO
O0O0000020%00

¢ GUOoOOoOOoOooOooooo

ooobooooogGerlODOOoOOd
gooooooboboooooooo
000oo0o0oo0oooooDoDDGFro
ooooooooooooooono
obooooooboooooobooonoo
ooooooog

oooo
oooooobooooooooo
gooooooooooooo

ooooo
gooGerLOOO0O0O0O0oOoooDo
oooooobooooooooo
oo

gooooOooooooobooao
gbooogoboobooooooDoo
gboboooboboooooooaog
gz,199,0000000D00D0O0O0OO
gooobgntdetr,o0000mMmognd
gbobobooboobooboaood
gbbooooboboooooom

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE



10

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Size and diversity of customers

As at 31 March 2024, loan receivables were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars with interest rate of 10% - 13%
per annum. The loan amounts with one year period term
were lent to two independent third parties in the form of
second mortgage and unsecured personal loan. The gross
carrying amount was approximately HK$2,199,000 (2023:
HK$1,461,000). The Group's largest borrower by itself and
together with the other one (2023: two) borrower of the
Group accounted for approximately 51.71% (2023: 88.0%)
and 100% (2023: 100%) respectively of the Group’s loans
receivable of its Money Lending Business at 31 March 2024.

Since the performance and the return of the hire purchase
business have been weak, we have requested the hire purchase
clients to early settle their corresponding loans and thus we
could redirect the resources to other businesses of the Group.
As at 31 March 2024, there was one mortgage loan (second
mortgages) with terms of one year and residential properties as
collaterals, of loan principals amount of HK$1,000,000 and also
one personal loan without collateral of HK$1,000,000.

Key internal controls

The Group generally provides short-to-medium term loans. For
loans booked during the Reporting Period, in terms of number
of loan transactions, 100% was with a term within one year.
The repayment terms and conditions are determined from
the factors including the liquidity needs of the borrowers, the
Group’s funding and cash flows management strategies, and
the terms and rates of the prevailing market.

The licensing of money lenders and regulation of money-
lending transactions are governed by the MLO. The Group
has credit policies, guidelines and procedures in place which
cover key internal controls of a loan transaction including due
diligence, credit appraisal, proper execution of documentations,
continuous monitoring and collection and recovery. The
due diligence procedures included conducting research on
the borrowers’ background, evaluating its current business
operations and financial conditions, market reputation and
creditability, and conducting financial analysis and recoverability
analysis. To minimise credit or investment risks, the Group
may require personal guarantees and corporate guarantees in
respect of certain loans.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Upon completion of relevant account opening, Know-your-
client and credit assessment procedures, the Group would
grant a loan facility to such borrowers for their own financing
needs. The Group has followed all forms and procedures
prescribed under the provisions of the MLO when making
relevant application for the renewal of Money Lender License
and conducting our Money Lending Business. After drawdown
of loan, the loan agreement will be filed with the loan
documents properly. The Group maintains regular contact
with the borrowers and carries out periodical review to assess
the recovery of the loan based on the business development,
financial status, repayment ability including such as recent
settlement record and any litigations and bankruptcy orders
against borrowers. The Group will take all necessary legal
actions against the relevant borrowers to follow up the
settlement of the outstanding loans.

Asset Management Services

The Group’s fee income from asset management services
for the Reporting Period was approximately HK$440,000
(Corresponding Period: HK$ Nil).

The Group has set up three open-ended fund companies (the
"OFCs"”) to expand its asset management services business.
The Company has set an investment target for one OFC and
is currently fine-tuning the value investment strategy for
the other. For the new Capital Investment Entrant Scheme
announced by the Immigration Department of Hong Kong
government, the Company has established a department
dedicated to immigrant services and re-deployed its current
employees to this newly formed business unit. Furthermore, the
Company has brought on board skilled freelance professionals
to manage these services and undertake research.

Supply Chain Financing

The supply chain financing business operates in a similar
manner to the loan financing and margin financing business.
It utilises the 3C Products being pledged by 3C wholesalers
as collaterals to the Group, and in return, the Group provides
financing and ancillary supply chain solution services to 3C
wholesalers. The Group acts as a lender for 3C wholesalers,
providing upfront financing and placing orders on their behalf
with 3C suppliers. This supply chain service financially facilitates
3C wholesalers in their procurement of products, and enlarges
their business scale. The Group generates stable, low-risk
returns through interest income from the financing it provides.

BIEET w1

0

obobobobobooooobogooDoo
gooooobooooboooooon
ooobobooooobooooobo
doooooooooooooooo
ubobobobobobooobaod
gboboobboooooooboooobadg
oboboooooboobobobobo
uooooOobobobooocooon
obooboooooooooooooon
oobooooooobooooooooDn
gboboooooboobobabogod
gbooboooboooboobobooboo
gobobooooboooooo

BEEEIERS

gboobooboboboooobgooa
gooogo44o00000bOOOOOn
0om

0000000000000 00Dm R
BRAEESBATODOOOOOODOD
00Oo0oDo0OO0000O0OoDoooDoOoOo
000000000 DOO0OOODDO
000000000000 DoDoOooOOoOo
0000000000000 Oooooon
0000000000000 DDOoOn
000000000000 OoOoODOOo
0000000000000 O0OoOOOn
000000000 D0OO0OOoOn

HAEERE

dooooooooooooooooo
oooooooooobooooboOo3con
oooooooo3cobooooooonn
oogoboooogs3coooooooon
O0ooooDOoO0o0oOoboOO0OOoOsco
goboobboooooooboobog
ocoOoOs3coobDOo0oOoooooobooon
cbooooooooooobobooono
oooooooboooooooooDon
gbobobobboboboooobboobd
ao

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w1

O

The Group recorded interest income and service fees from
supply chain financing of approximately HK$8,430,000 for
the Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: HK$2,024,000)
The gross procurement amount of clients was approximately
HK$769,729,000 for the Reporting Period (Corresponding
Period: HK$193,321,000).

Advisory Services

The Company has been granted with approval to carry out Type
4 regulated activity (advising on securities) by the Securities
and Futures Commission under the SFO during the Reporting
Period. This authorization enables the Group to provide a
spectrum of advisory services related to investment advice
and dealing in securities. The Company has already recruited
employees who have extensive experience in the securities
industry and is proactively engaging in identifying and courting
potential clients. Currently, the Company is in the midst of
negotiations with several potential clients, discussing the scope
and terms of the services it proposes to offer.

Trust Service

Regarding its provision of trust services, the Group is targeting
the provision of professional trust services to its high net worth
clients, in order to fulfil their needs of asset protection, tax
planning and wealth management. The Group has obtained
all required licenses to launch its trust business and is in the
process of developing an online service platform to enable
clients to track the assets held in trust. The Company expects to
complete the online service platform by the end of the second
quarter of 2024.

Other Services

In addition to the above business activities, the Group may on
a case by case basis come across other services, the fee income
from which is recorded as other revenue.

The amount of other revenue generated by the Group

in the Reporting Period was approximately HK$910,000
(Corresponding Period: HK$120,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group targets to develop as a diversified
investment and financing services platform, linking up
traditional with new generation financial products and services
in the new era of virtual assets for the market. The Board
also considers that the change of company name during the
Reporting Period better reflects the current direction of the
Group and could more directly reflect the diversified areas of
future business development of the Group. The Board believes
that the adoption of new English and Chinese names is seen
as a step towards establishing a refreshed corporate identity,
which is anticipated to support and enhance the Group’s
business growth moving forward.

The Company is taking appropriate steps and making progress
to meet the resumption guidance as set out in the letter
from the Stock Exchange dated 18 July 2023 (“Resumption
Guidance”), with an aim to resume trading in the shares of
the Company (“Shares”) as soon as possible in full compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules and in a manner satisfactory to the
Stock Exchange.

Dealing with the future challenges, the management of the
Group would review and adjust business strategies on a regular
basis with a prudent and balanced risk management approach.
The Group and the Board will continue to keep abreast of the
latest development of the global financial market and updates
on the regulatory requirements applicable to the Group and to
strive to achieve the business objective to increase the Group’s
exposure and scale of operations and to capture a larger
market share.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Key Financial Data

FA 75 o] 8
TEMBRE

As at/Year ended 31 March

Approximate

B/ BE=B=1+—HLEE percentage
2024 2023 change
k-1 -3 ooooo gl dan
=)
Results of operation (HK$'000) 00ooooooo
Revenue oo 23,591 13,755 71.5%
Profit/(loss) before tax oo0oo0o0oooon 9,616 (9,529) 200.9%
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for theyear 00000000
attributable to owners of the Company ooooooo
gooooo 8,887 (9,514) 193.4%
Financial position (HK$'000) ooooooooo
Current assets gooo 217,700 188,431 15.5%
Current liabilities gooo 70,436 53,085 32.7%
Net assets oooo 153,895 143,805 7.0%
Key financial ratios oooooo
Net profit margin goo 37.7% (69.3%)
Return on equity ooooo 5.8% (6.6%)
Return on total assets gooooao 3.9% (4.8%)
Current ratio oooo 3.1 timesfZ 3.6 timesO

Net debt to equity ratio

Gearing ratio

gooooooo Net Cash Position  Net Cash Position
REFERN oooooo
goooon 19.5% 10.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group recorded a total revenue for the Reporting Period
of approximately HK$23,591,000, representing an increase of
approximately 71.5% from approximately HK$13,755,000 for
the Corresponding Period. Details are stated as below:

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The Group's commission income from securities dealing
and brokerage services increased by approximately
68.0% from approximately HK$1,234,000 in the
Corresponding Period to approximately HK$2,073,000 in
the Reporting Period,;

The Group generated fee and commission income from
placing and underwriting activities of approximately
HK$2,436,000 in the Reporting Period (Corresponding
Period: HK$396,000);

The Group's interest income from loan financing, margin
financing and money lending services increased by
approximately 11.5% from approximately HK$8,061,000
in the Corresponding Period to approximately
HK$8,990,000 in the Reporting Period;

The Group's fee income from asset management services
for the Reporting Period was approximately HK$440,000
(Corresponding Period: HK$ Nil);

The Group recorded interest income and service
fees from supply chain financing of approximately
HK$8,430,000 for the Reporting Period (Corresponding
Period: HK$2,024,000);

The Group recorded advisory and restructuring fee
income of approximately HK$312,000 for the Reporting
Period (Corresponding Period: HK$1,920,000);

During the Reporting Period, the fair value changes on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss was at
a gain of approximately HK$6,704,000 (Corresponding
Period: gain of approximately HK$232,000); and

Other revenue increased by 658.3% from approximately
HK$120,000 in the Corresponding Period to
approximately HK$910,000 in the Reporting Period.
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Other Gains

Other gains mainly consist of sundry income of approximately
HK$493,000 and government grants amounted to
approximately HK$1,092,000. The total other gains for
the Reporting Period was approximately HK$1,942,000
(Corresponding Period: approximately HK$1,735,000).

Commission Expenses

Commission expenses represent commission paid to the
Group’s accounts executives (including in-house and self-
employed accounts executives) and commission paid to sub-
placing agents or sub-underwriters engaged by the Group
for the fund raising exercises participated by the Group. Total
commission expenses increased by approximately 0.2% from
approximately HK$416,000 in the Corresponding Period to
approximately HK$417,000 in the Reporting Period which was
mainly due to the increase in commission paid to accounts
executives by approximately HK$1,000.

Depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets

Upon implementation of HKFRS 16 effective from 1 January
2020, if the Group enters into any lease transaction as a
lessee, it should recognise the right-of-use assets and will be
regarded as an acquisition of asset under the GEM Listing
Rules. Depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets represent
the leasing period from the head office in Hong Kong. The
depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets for the Reporting
Period was approximately HK$1,486,000 (Corresponding
Period: HK$1,318,000).

Staff Costs

Staff costs include Directors’ emoluments, staff salaries, bonus,
allowances and contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund.
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 19 employees
including Directors (31 March 2023: 20). Staff costs is one
of the largest expense in the Group which accounted for
approximately 31.7% of the total expenses of the Group in the
Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: approximately 31.3%).
Total staff costs in the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$7,317,000, representing a decrease of approximately
8.8% from approximately HK$8,021,000 in the Corresponding
Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses primarily consist of legal and
professional fees, entertainment expenses, office rent and
rates, software and stock information expenses and various
miscellaneous office expenses. Total other operating expenses
increased by 22.5% from approximately HK$8,594,000 in the
Corresponding Period to approximately HK$10,525,000 in the
Reporting Period, and the breakdown is disclosed in note 11 to
the financial statements contained in this report. The increase
was mainly attributable to the increase in legal and professional
fee.

Exchange Gain

The foreign exchange gain for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$144,000 (the Corresponding Period:
exchange loss HK$3,023,000), which was mainly due to
translation of USD to HKD in the supply chain financing
segment.

Impairment of Assets

Impairment of assets for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$1,831,000 (Corresponding Period: HK$2,322,000) which is all
from an impairment loss on account receivables (Corresponding
Period: all from an impairment on account receivables).

The impairment loss on accounts receivables for the Reporting
Period was made over a loan financing debtor. The loan was
secured by listed shares owned by the debtor. Based on default
by this debtor, GSL has obtained judgement against this debtor
from the court in March 2021. In August 2023, the pledged
shares were transferred to the borrower's securities account
with GSL. GSL could then start disposing the pledged shares
to recover the loan position. While the market value of the
pledged listed shares has dropped, impairment was made
accordingly.

Impairment assessment was performed on the Group's property
and equipment and right-of-use assets for its head office, and
no impairment loss was recorded for the Reporting Period.
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Profit for the Year

Profit for the Year was approximately HK$8,890,000, as
compared with a loss for the reporting period of approximately
HK$9,529,000 in the Corresponding Period. Basic earning per
share in the Reporting Period was approximately HK0.44 cents,
as compared with loss per share of approximately HK0.48 cents
in the Corresponding Period. The turnaround was mainly due to
the increase of sales and strict control of operating costs.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: nil).

Right-of-use Assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's right-of-use assets amounted
to approximately HK$7,146,000, which is lease arrangement
for the Hong Kong office. Additions to the right-of use
assets for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$7,496,000, due to renewal of existing Hong Kong office.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

The investment at fair value through profit or loss held by the
Company is shares of a Hong Kong listed company due to an
underwriting engagement of its rights issue in March 2023, the
fair value being the market value of these shares.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the Reporting Period, the Group mainly financed its
operations, capital expenditure and other capital requirements
by internal resources and a loan facility provided by the
Company'’s controlling shareholder.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

£ YRR
OO0oo000Oos,go0,000000O0O0OOOO
O000000OO9,529,000000000
O000000000o044000000
000000000480 0000000
goooooooooooooooa
oo

RS

goooooboobobbbbboogoo
ooooooon

EREEREE

oooobOb0OO0O000oo0o00ooooan
oboooooov7,146,0000 00000
goooocoooboobooooobon
oooooobooobDbbooooooo
7,496,0000 OO

BAFESFABmZRE
000000000000000000
000000000000000000
000000000000000000
000000 o-

NRBEE MBEERRESRE

goobooobobocoooooooobon
oooboooooobooooooooo
oooooooooooooo



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2024, the net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$147,264,000 (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$135,396,000), including cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$10,153,000 excluding cash
held on behalf of customers (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$36,617,000). The current ratio of the Group, being the
ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was approximately
3.1 times (31 March 2023: 3.6 times).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings
outstanding (31 March 2023: HK$nil).

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. Total
equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$152,707,000 as at 31 March 2024 (31
March 2023: approximately HK$143,820,000).

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any charges on
its assets (31 March 2023: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 19 employees
including Directors (31 March 2023: 20). Total staff costs
(including Directors’ emoluments, staff salaries, bonus,
allowances and contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund)
for the Reporting Period were approximately HK$7,317,000
(Corresponding Period: approximately HK$8,021,000).
Employees’ remuneration was determined based on the
employees’ qualification, experience, position and seniority. The
remuneration packages comprise mainly monthly fixed salaries
and discretionary bonuses based on individual performance,
which are paid to employees as recognition of, and reward for,
their contributions.

The Group regularly reviews its remuneration policies and
employee benefits with reference to market practices and
performance of individual employees. The Group is also
committed to providing appropriate on-going training to staff
members to equip them for future career development. There
has been no major change in staff remuneration policies during
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk is primarily
related to transactions denominated in a currency other than
Hong Kong dollars. The turnover and operation costs of the
Group were principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
Group currently does not have a policy on hedges of foreign
exchange risk. However, the Group will closely monitor the
fluctuations in exchange rates and will consider to employ
financial instrument for hedging should the needs arise.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group, which
was calculated by dividing the total debts by the total equity,
was 19.5% (31 March 2023: 10.2%).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any future plans for material
investments or capital assets as at the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group hold shares of a Hong Kong listed company due to
an underwriting engagement of its rights issue in March 2023.
As at 31 March 2024, the book value of this investment at fair
value stood at approximately HK$13,842,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$7,962,000). During the Reporting Period, the fair value
changes on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
was at a gain of approximately HK$6,704,000 (Corresponding
Period: gain of approximately HK$232,000). Save as disclosed
in this report, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during the Reporting Period.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant outstanding capital commitment
as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: nil).

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

5 B = Bz
dddodooooooooooooooo
gooboooOoocooooooooon
oooooooobooooooooon
oooooooooboobooooooo
ooooooooooooOo0oooboDoo
ooooooog

BEE&BRLEXR
D0000000000000000
D0000000000000000
000195%0000000000000
10.2% (10

EARERESEERNRRKEE

ooooocooocooooooobon
ooooooooooDo

EAKRE
gboooboooooooboobobon
gooooooooooobooboooo
oooboocoooooobobooobon
ooooobooooogis,s4z2,00000
Oooooooooooono7,962,0000
omoooooooooooobooo
O0O000o0D0O0ODb0O0000e,704,000
OoO0O0o0OO0D00O0O0232,00000M000
ooobooooobooooooobon
ooooooooodo

by /B 2 B R Bk B A B N E K UR R
FHRHLESIA
0D00000000000000000
000000000000000000
00

B K
g0do0ooooooouoooooooono
O0o0oo0oooooonoDoooognono
go00oooooom



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024 (31 March 2023: nil).

CONTINUED SUSPENSION OF TRADING

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated (i) 28 June 2023 in relation to the decision of the
GEM Listing Review Committee of the Stock Exchange
and the suspension of trading in the Shares; (ii) 21 July
2023 in relation to the Resumption Guidance; and (iii) 28
September 2023, 28 December 2023 and 28 March 2024 in
relation to, among others, the quarterly update on status of
resumption. The Group has continued to develop its business
notwithstanding the suspension of trading in Shares. In an
effort to demonstrate its compliance with Rule 17.26 of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Group has actively continued to develop,
improve and strengthen its existing business capabilities with
an aim to enhancing its long-term growth. The Company
is taking appropriate steps and making progresses to meet
the Resumption Guidance with an aim to resuming trading
in the Shares as soon as possible in full compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and in a manner satisfactory to the Stock
Exchange.

At the request of the Company, trading in the Shares on the
Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 29 June 2023 and will remain suspended until the Company
fulfils the Resumption Guidance. The Company will keep
shareholders and potential investors informed of, amongst
others, the latest progress of the resumption plan as and when
appropriate and in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of
any significant event requiring disclosure that has been taken
place subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s risk management objectives are to achieve a proper
balance between risks and yield, minimise the adverse impacts
of risks on the Group's operating performance, and maximise
the benefits of the shareholders of the Company. The Group
has in place a risk management structure and implemented
compliance and operational manuals, which contain credit
policies, operating procedures and other internal control
measures for control of exposure to risks during the course of
business activities.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group holds collateral to cover
its credit risks associated with its accounts receivables from
margin and loan clients and reviews the recoverables amount
of each individual accounts receivables at the end of each
reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity Risk

GSL is subject to liquid capital requirements under the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules
(“SF(FR)R"). The management of the Group closely monitors,
on a daily basis, the liquid capital level of GSL to ensure
compliance with the requirements under the SF(FR)R.

The Group also has other monitoring systems to monitor and
maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deems adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Operational Risk

The Group has responsible officers and compliance officers in
charge of overseeing the day-to-day operations, controlling
and monitoring compliance issues and solving dealing
problems. They also formulate and update the compliance
and operational manuals for each business function based
on regulatory and industrial requirements to standardise the
Group’s operational procedures and reduce human errors.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fok Yuk Tong (“Mr. Fok”), aged 60, was appointed as an
executive Director on 20 November 2020 and as the chairman
of the Board on 12 October 2021. Mr. Fok is currently a
director of PF Group Holdings Limited, Dynamic Express Global
Limited, Pacific Foundation Holdings LimitedOO OO OO 0O
00000 GSL, GFL, Jovial Victory Global Limitedd O O O O
000004 Chance Wise Holdings LimitedDO O OO 00O
O O Brothers Worldwide Company Limited, Big Win Worldwide
Company Limited, Excellence International Company Limited,
UB Trust Company Limitedd O 000 00000 and Perfect
Ten Holdings Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Fok has been engaging in the wholesale trading
and distribution of telecommunications electronic products for
over 20 years. Mr. Fok is the spouse of Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun
and the father of Ms. Fok Kit Yee.

Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun (“Ms. Hsieh”), aged 63, was
appointed as an executive Director on 20 November 2020.
Ms. Hsieh is currently a director of PF Group Holdings Limited,
Dynamic Express Global Limited, Pacific Foundation Holdings
LimitedDO OO ODOOOOOOO GSL, GFL, Jovial Victory
Global LimitedODO O OO OO OO0 Chance Wise Holdings
LimitedOO OO OO0 OO OO Brothers Worldwide Company
Limited, Big Win Worldwide Company Limited, Excellence
International Company Limited, UB Trust Company Limited
0000000000 and Perfect Ten Holdings Limited,
all of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Hsieh has
been engaging in the wholesale trading and distribution of
telecommunications electronic products for over 20 years. Ms.
Hsieh is the spouse of Mr. Fok and the mother of Ms. Fok Kit
Yee.

Ms. Fok Kit Yee (“"Ms. Fok"”), aged 37, was appointed as
an executive Director on 11 December 2020. Ms. Fok has
been engaging in the wholesale trading and distribution of
telecommunications electronic products for over 10 years. She
holds a Bachelor of Business (Tourism & Hospitality) from La
Trobe University and Diploma of Commerce from Melbourne
Institute of Business and Technology. Ms. Fok is a daughter of
Ms. Hsieh and Mr. Fok.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEkEREEREREE

O

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIIERITES

Ms. Chan Hoi Wuen Katherine (“Ms. Chan”), aged 43, FREERZHD BZEO004300000
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 0oo0ooDooooooooooDoo
11 December 2020. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor degree in Arts 0ooooooo0ooOooOoooOoooooo
(first-class honours) and a Master degree in Philosophy at the 00000 0DO0000O00Oooooo
University of Hong Kong as well as a Bachelor degree in Laws 000000 (Manchester Metropolitan
at the Manchester Metropolitan University. She is currently a UniversityyDO OO DO OODOO0OO0DOOOO
practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a principal of Katherine 0000000 Katherine ChanO OO O
Chan Law Office. She has a wide range of experience in Oo0oooooooooooooooo
corporate finance, private equity and acquisitions and is familiar 0doo0ooooooooooooood
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Oo00ooooooooooooooOoo
Exchange, corporate governance and compliance issues of oo

listed companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong Wing Chi (“Mr. Tong”), aged 42, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 6 October 2021.
Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 2004 and has been a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since September 2008.

Mr. Tong has over 15 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial reporting. Mr. Tong started his
career in Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu from September 2004 to
February 2010 with his last position as an audit senior. He
then worked in DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited as a senior
accountant from March 2010 to October 2011. Mr. Tong
returned to Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu in October 2011 as an
audit manager and his last held position was a manager of CXO
advisory service when he left the company in February 2014.
From April 2014 to April 2016, Mr. Tong worked in Suncity
Group Commercial Consulting Limited, a limited company
incorporated in Macau, as an assistant director (finance). From
April 2016 to October 2016, he then worked in China Cinda
(HK) Holdings Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. which is a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1359), as a deputy senior manager of the accounting and
finance department. From October 2016 to March 2017,
Mr. Tong worked in Huarong Investment Stock Corporation
Limited (a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with original stock code 2277 before being
privatised in November 2020), as a senior finance manager
at the finance department. He then worked in Suncity Group
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1383) from March 2017 to June
2018 as a financial controller and company secretary. Mr. Tong
has been a managing director of Victory Success Consulting
Limited since July 2018 and a managing partner of Edward
& Stan Global Advisory Limited since November 2019. Also,
Mr. Tong was a joint company secretary of China Bright Culture
Group (stock code: 1859, a company listed on Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) for the period from
21 July 2022 to 28 February 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEREREE
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Mr. Tong was an independent non-executive director of
Trendzon Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1865), from 21
September 2020 to 31 March 2022 and was an independent
non-executive director of Greater Bay Area Dynamic Growth
Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1189) from 19 September 2022
to 25 August 2023. He is an independent non-executive
director of CHTC Fong’s International Company Limited (stock
code: 641, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) since 1 March 2022.

Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun (“Mr. Kwan"), aged 44, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 11
October 2021. Mr. Kwan is currently a practising solicitor of a
local law firm. Before joining the legal profession, Mr. Kwan
served as a responsible officer for Types 4 and/or 9 regulated
activities under the SFO for a number of financial institutions
in Hong Kong. Prior to that, Mr. Kwan worked as an assistant
investigator in the Operations Department of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001, a degree
of Bachelor of Laws from University of London in 2008 and a
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong
Kong in 2013.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lee Ho Leung William (“Mr. Lee”), aged 52, he was
an executive Director from 1 April 2023 to 2 January 2024.
Mr. Lee is one of the Responsible Officers for the Group’s
Type 1 and Type 9 regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Lee
was appointed as the Managing Director of GSL, one of the
operating subsidiaries of the Company, on 5 November 2020
and was appointed as a director of GSL on 1 May 2021. Mr.
Lee is the Manager-in-Charge (“MIC") of GSL of the following
Core Functions as defined under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission’s MIC Regime (“MIC Regime"”): Overall
Management Oversight, Key Business Line (Asset management),
Operational Control and Review, Risk Management,
Compliance and Information Technology. Mr. Lee has over 20
years experiences in private equity, venture capital, structured
finance investment and corporate finance. Mr. Lee had been
Responsible Officer for Type 1, 4, 6 and/or 9 activities under
the SFO for various financial institutions. Mr. Lee obtained a
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from City University of Hong
Kong, a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a Master
of International and Public Affairs degree from the University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Lee was admitted as a member to the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 1998 and
became a fellow of the association in 2003. Mr. Lee has been a
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder since 2001.

Mr. Fung Kin Chung (“Mr. Fung”), aged 46, is one of
the Responsible Officers for the Group's Type 1 and Type
9 regulated activities under the SFO and he is responsible
for, among others, setting up and developing the External
Asset Manager (EAM) business and Trust businesses for the
Group. He is also a director of UB Trust Company Limited. Mr.
Fung has around 17 years of experience in the Hong Kong’s
finance industry, covering the fields of banking, insurance and
securities. Prior to joining the Group in January 2023, Mr. Fung
worked at | WIN SECURITIES LIMITED from 2021-2022 where
he was the Director and one of the Responsible Officers (Type
1, 4 and 9 regulated activities). From 2016 to 2021, Mr. Fung
worked for CHINA INDUSTRIAL SECURITIES INTERNATIONAL
BROKERAGE LIMITED and Basel Capital Limited as Director
of Sales, at which he is responsible for all sales related issues
including the operation and compliances. Mr. Fung obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in November 1999.
He has been a certified financial planner (CFP) of the Institute
of Financial Planners of Hong Kong in Year 2009.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEELRHRS

O

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company are
committed to promoting high standards of corporate
governance practices and procedures to ensure that sound
and appropriate corporate governance practices are in place
to grow the Group and safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the Group's assets.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules as its own code of corporate governance. For the year
ended 31 March 2024, to the best of the knowledge of the
Board, the Company was in compliance with the relevant code
provisions set out in the CG Code, except for the deviations

TEEERER
0D00000000000000000
000000000000000000
000000000000000000
00000000000000

O0O0O0O0O0OGEMODODODODODOCIOO
0000000 EEATNDOOODO
0oDD000D0O00DO0O00OO0O0OOoDO
0000000000000 DODOOO0O
0000000000000 O0OO0DODO
00000000000

explained below.

Code provision

ST RIS

C.1.8

0c.1.80

C.2.1

0c.2.10

Reasons for the non-compliance and improvement actions took
or to be taken

FERRRARBEH S ERMZAETE

As the Company intends to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable
commercial terms and conditions, therefore has not arranged
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024.
goooDoboooobobooooboooobbooooooao
gobo0obooboooboboooDboooboobooboooo
gooooon

The Company has not appointed a chief executive officer as role
and functions of chief executive officer have been performed by
all the executive Directors collectively. The Board believes that this
arrangement enables the Company to make and implement decisions
promptly, and thus achieve the Company’s objectives effectively and
efficiently in response to the changing environment. The Board will
continuously assess whether any changes are necessary.
0000000000000 oooooooboboooooooan
go0oboo0oooboooobobooobobuobobobooooo
gobooboobooboobooboobooobuooboono
gogboboobooobboouobooooo
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Code provision
TFAMEX

D.1.2

0bD.1.20

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERES
O

Reasons for the non-compliance and improvement actions took
or to be taken

BRERRBEIRERMZAETE

The Company has not provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties. However, the Company has based on business
situation, provided to the Board on a quarterly basis, updated business
information to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties. The Company considers that such business
information arising out of the ordinary business provided to the Board
from time to time instead of monthly updates are sufficient for the
Board to discharge its duties. In the event there are any significant
updates to be provided, the Company will update all the Directors as
early as practicable for discussion and resolution. Every Director could
make enquiries with the Company about the business operation of the
Group and give suggestions or feedback freely.
gobo0obo0obooboooDboooboobobooboooo
goobboooobbbooobbtbooooonbbooubobo
oo ooobobobobobobbobbooooooo
gooobodoooooobooooooobboboboooooo
doddoooooooooooobooooooboooboooooo
go0ooooooboboboooobobooDooboboooo
gdooooooobobooooboooooobobbooooao
aagd

The Board will continue to review its corporate governance 0o0o0oDoooooooooooooo

practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standards, comply with the increasingly complicated regulatory
requirements, and meet with the rising expectations of the
shareholders and respective investors of the Company.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings
(the “"Required Standard of Dealings”) set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiries with all Directors, the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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O

THE BOARD

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control
of the Group and the Directors are collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is accountable to
shareholders for the strategic development of the Group with
the goal of maximising long-term shareholder value, while
balancing broader stakeholder interests. The Board is also
responsible to communicate with shareholders and regulatory
bodies and, where appropriate, will make recommendations to
shareholders on final dividends and approve the declaration of
any interim dividend. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive Directors and senior management
of the Company who will meet regularly to review the financial
results and performance of the Group and make financial and
operational decisions for the implementation of strategies and
plans approved by the Board.

Composition of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to date of this
report, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fok Yuk Tong (Chairman)

Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun

Ms. Fok Kit Yee

Mr. Lee Ho Leung William

O (appointed on 1 April 2023 and resigned on
0 2 January 2024)

Mr. Zhong Chu lJian

O (resigned on 1 April 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Hoi Wuen Katherine
Mr. Tong Wing Chi
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises
six members, including three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The biographical details
of them (including relationships between the Board members)
are set out on pages 23 to 26 of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

In accordance with article 83(3) of the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company (the “Memorandum
and Articles”), the Directors shall have the power from time
to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
of shareholders of the Company after his/her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

In addition, in accordance with article 84 of the Memorandum
and Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation and being eligible
offer themselves for re-election provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. The Directors to retire
by rotation in every year shall be those who have been longest
in office since their last appointment or re-appointment.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Fok is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”),
in which he is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures.

As aforementioned, the Company has not appointed a chief
executive officer as role and functions of chief executive officer
have been performed by all the executive Directors collectively.
They are responsible for implementing objectives, policies and
strategies approved and delegated by the Board. They are
also in charge of the Group's day-to-day management and
operations.

TEEELRRS
0

ZEREEESR

0000000000000 0m AR
MAIMO833) 000 00N0DO0nOno
00000000000 D0ODDOOOO0
0000000000000 0O0o0oo
0000000ooooooo0oo0ooon
000000o0ooooooooooon
0000000000000 OooOooO
000000o0ooooooo0o0o0oon
000000D0Doo0DD0O0O0000On
0000000o000ooooooooon

oooooobooobogos4pooonon
gboobooboobocoooooobooooon
oooboocooooooooooboon
gbobuobuoootobobodobaod
gboboooobooboooobogoaoa
gbobooooobooboboobobo
gobooobbooobboooooboo
ooooooooogo

FRERITHARR

00000000 0MEFICOOOD
000000000 o0OoO0O0000O0n
oooo

goboboooobbooooobooboooda
gbooboobooboboboooogooa
gboboooooobooooogobo
uooooOobooobooocoobo
ooooooooooooo

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

31



32

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are seasoned
individuals from diversified backgrounds and industries.

In compliance with rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third
of the Board, and with at least one of them possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed an
initial term of two years, and either party may terminate such
appointment at any time by giving at least one month’s prior
notice in writing to the other and is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all of them have
met the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and still considers them to be
independent as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code which include (a) developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations; (b) reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management; (c) reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (d) developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and (e) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules and with the written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Tong, Mr. Kwan and Ms. Chan. Mr. Tong is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among
others, (i) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) to review
and monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and provide advices in respect of financial reporting; (iii) to
oversee the financial reporting system, internal control and risk
management systems of the Group; and (iv) to monitor any
continuing connected transactions.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee
held four meetings to review the quarterly, interim and annual
financial results of the Group. It has also reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group,
and met with the external auditor twice to discuss auditing,
statutory compliance and financial reporting matters. The Audit
Committee had reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”)
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and was
of the opinion that the Consolidated Financial Statements
complied with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements and that
adequate disclosures were made therein.
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EEELRHRS

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) in compliance with rule 5.36A
of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises two executive Directors, namely Mr. Fok
and Ms. Fok, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Chan, Mr. Kwan and Mr. Tong. Ms. Chan is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, among
others, (i) to review the structure, size, composition and to
make recommendations to the Board after such review; (ii)
to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; (iii) to assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; (iv) to make recommendations to the
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors; and (v) to review succession planning
for Directors, the Nomination Policy (as defined below) and
Board Diversity Policy (as defined below).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one meeting was held
to make recommendations on the re-election of Directors at
the general meeting; reviewing the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board; assessing the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors; and reviewing the
Nomination Policy (as defined below) and Board Diversity Policy
(as defined below).
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Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy of the Group (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) as adopted by the Board aims to achieve diversity in
the Board in order to have a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives in accordance with the business nature
of the Group. The Company endorses and recognises the
benefits of having a diversified Board. A summary of the Board
Diversity Policy is set out below:

Measurable Objectives and Implementation

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in this report,
on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and
monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board currently comprises three females and three male
Directors, the Board is satisfied that an adequate level of
gender diversity has been achieved in respect of the Board.
The Company, through its commitment to providing equal
opportunities as well as selecting the right candidates based
on objective criteria with due regard for the benefits of
diversity, will ensure that gender diversity is emphasised and
maintained at the Board level in respect of succession planning
in order to make available a diverse pipeline of candidates
for appointment to the Board in case of any vacancies. The
Group is also committed to achieving gender diversity across
the workforce (including Directors and senior management).
As at the date of this report, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including Directors and senior management) is approximately
1:1, the Board considers that the gender diversity in workforce
is currently achieved.
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EXERHS

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of Directors.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

o character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

o requirement in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules (in case of independent non-
executive Directors);

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

o any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Directors Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’
nomination which are pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
the Memorandum and Articles as below:

(a)

(b)

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee or the company secretary
of the Company shall call for a meeting of the
Nomination Committee upon receipt of any nominations
of candidates. The Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the selection criteria
mentioned above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship. For any person
that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a
Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the same selection criteria as
mentioned above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship, and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to the shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
The Board should have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for
election at any general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at the general meeting according
to the Memorandum and Articles. The Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should review the overall
contribution and service of the retiring Director to the
Company, his/her level of participation and performance
on the Board and determine whether the retiring Director
continues to meet the above selection criteria. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to the shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of Director at the general
meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the
rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee currently comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Fok, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Chan, Mr. Kwan and Mr. Tong. Mr. Kwan is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among
others, (i) to review and make recommendations to the Board
on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
Directors and senior management of the Group; (i) to make
recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and non-executive Directors as
well as the senior management of the Group; (iii) to review
other remuneration-related matters, including benefits-in-
kind and other compensation payable to the Directors and
senior management; and (iv) to review performance based
remunerations and to establish a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy in relation to remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one meeting was held
to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
package of Directors and reviewing the policy and structure of
the remuneration packages for Directors.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

#MEEE

O00000OGEMOOOOOS.34000
D0000MEFEMEEEFOOOOO0OO0
0000000 D0OO0000OOOoOoOoO
0oO00o0o0DDDO0O000ooooooo
000000 DO0DD0O0OD0OO0OO0OOODn
OooDOoO0DOoO0ooOoOo

Ooo0ooO0oooO0oooooooooong
ddoooooooooooooooo
gboboooooboooooodgbd
ooooooDooooooooooo
gobooobbooobboooooboog
O0o0o0ooOEnooooooooo
gboocooooboocooooooobon
oooooooOo@wooooooood
gobboouoobooooboao

ooooocoooooooboooboooo
gbobodguobboouooboboooobood
gbobooooobooboboogooboa
goboogoobbooo



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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0

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS SFEEELERBR

During the year ended 31 March 2024, five meetings were 0000Do0o0ooDooooooooo
held by the Board and two general meetings. The attendance Oo0o0oDoooooooooooooo
of each member of the committees’ meetings, Board meetings OodoDoo0ooooooooooon
and general meetings held during the Reporting Period are OoDo0O0o0Dooooooooon
recorded as follows:

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held (Note)

HESERYRTEHRY (D)

Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General
Director Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
B3 EZ9gE BNRZEY8E R4LZE9EE FWZEgg: BERE
Mr. Fok goo 5/5 - 7 171 2/2
Ms. Hsieh goo 4/5 - - - 212
Ms. Fok goa 4/5 - 1”1 - 212
Ms. Chan goao 4/5 4/4 1”1 71 22
Mr. Tong goao 4/5 4/4 1”1 1”1 212
Mr. Kwan ooo 4/5 4/4 7 71 212
Mr. Lee (resigned on gooooooooo 33 - - - 212
2 January 2024) goooooo
Mr. Zhong (resignedon 0000000000 - - - - -
1 April 2023) goooooo
Note: goad

Attendance of the Directors who were appointed and/or had resigned 0O00o00oo0o0oO0oooooooooooo
during the Reporting Period were made by reference to the number of O000o0o0ooooooooooooo
such meetings held during their respective tenures.
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EXERES

O

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules
and the management has provided such explanation and
information to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions. The
Directors believe that they have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
consolidated financial statements are prepared on a “going
concern” basis. The statement of the auditors of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 65 to 68 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of his duties
and responsibilities as a director under applicable rules and
requirements.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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The Company provided regular updates and presentations on
changes and developments relating to the Group’s business and
the legislative and regulatory environments to the Directors and
encouraged Directors to participate in continuous professional
developments. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Directors have confirmed that they have received the training as
follow:

TEEELRRS
0

oo0Do0oo0oOoOoooooboOooDbon
uboobOoooooocbooocbon
gooboooboooooOoooooon
gobooooocooooooooon
ooooooooooooooon

Attending or participating
in seminars/briefings
or reading regulatory

updates/journals relating
to director’s duties

HEXSEEE
A EREEEE
RIER EEHE
TERAHATY
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Fok ood v
Ms. Hsieh ooo v
Ms. Fok ogdno v
Mr. Lee (resigned on 2 January 2024) 000000 ooOooooooooo v
Mr. Zhong (resigned on 1 April 2023) Jdbooooooooooooo -

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFRITES
Ms. Chan ooo v
Mr. Tong god v
Mr. Kwan odo v

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Z.L. Global Corporate Services
Limited (“ZLGCS"), to provide compliance and full range
of company secretarial services to the Company in order to
assist the Company to cope with the changing regulatory
environment and to suit different commercial needs. Mr.
Lam Man Kit (“Mr. Lam”), the representative of ZLGCS, was
appointed as the named company secretary of the Company.
His primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr.
Fok, the Chairman and an executive Director of the Company.
According to rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Lam has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the Reporting Period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration paid
or payable to the external auditors of the Company in respect
of the audit and non-audit services were as follows:

Services rendered

B2 AT =
0D00000000000000000
000000000000000000
000000000

Remuneration
paid/payable

PR 4 AR 75 EE0pi 301k
HK$°000
ooo
Audit services oooo

— Statutory audit services Ooooooo 680

Non-audit services ooooo
— Tax advisory services ooooooo 6
686

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
"Dividend Policy”) which outlines general principles for the
determination and payment of dividend to its shareholders.
Dividends or distributions by the Company shall be determined
and declared in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations, the Memorandum and Articles and the Dividend
Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend
Policy if it considers necessary.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, that, in recommending or
declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
and sufficient cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder
value. The Board has the absolute discretion to declare and
distribute dividends from time to time to the shareholders,
and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval. In proposing any dividend payout,
the Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the Group’s financial results, financial position, cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, expected future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure
plans, interests of shareholders, any restrictions on payment
of dividends and any other factors the Board may consider
relevant.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Memorandum
and Articles were amended to, inter alia, (i) bringing the
Memorandum and Articles in line with the latest legal and
regulatory requirements, including the amendments made
to Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing Rules and applicable laws
and procedures of the Cayman lIslands; (ii) making other
consequential and housekeeping amendments; and (iii) update
the name(s) of the Company from “PF Group Holdings Limited”
to “Gaoyu Finance Group Limited” and the Chinese name "0
ooooooooor.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant change
or other proposed change in the constitutional document
during the year ended 31 March 2024. The latest version of
the Company’s constitutional documents is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's website.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for overseeing
the risk management (including environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) risk) and internal control systems of
the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The Company'’s
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board is committed to implementing an effective and sound
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interest of the shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board
has delegated to the management the implementation of the
systems of risk management and internal control and review of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions within the established framework, and
the management has provided a confirmation to the Board on
the effectiveness of these systems for the year ended 31 March
2024.

The Group has engaged an independent external professional
consultant to conduct independent internal control review
throughout the year. The review covered the risk management
and internal control systems including financial, operational,
compliance control and risk management functions. Such
review will be conducted regularly throughout each year.
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#ﬂtbiﬁﬂ:

As the corporate and operating structure of the Group is
not complex and a separate internal audit department may
divert resources of the Group, the Group does not have an
internal audit department. However, because the Group has
engaged an independent external professional consultant to
conduct internal control review, the Board through the Audit
Committee, conducted an annual review of effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
includes reviewing the internal control review report issued by
the independent external professional consultant and reviewing
the need for a separate internal audit department.

The scope of work of the independent external professional
consultant includes reviewing the design of the control and
performing walkthrough of the processes. The independent
external professional consultant has reported major findings
and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. All
recommendations from the independent external professional
consultant would be followed up closely to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time.

Key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group is described below, they have been
operating throughout the year and reviewed regularly by the
Board up to the date of this report.

o management structure is clearly defined with lines of
responsibilities and delegation of authority;

o high recruitment standards and formal career development
and training to ensure the integrity and competence of the
staff;

o regular and comprehensive information provided to
management, covering financial results and non-financial
performance indicators;

o procedures for the approval of capital expenditure,
investments and acquisitions;

o detailed budgeting process in which top management
is involved in budget setting, constant monitoring of
key statistics and review of management accounts on a
monthly basis, noting and investigating major variances;
and

o consideration of mitigating measures against significant

business risks at monthly management review meetings,
with quarterly briefings to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

Identifies risks relating to changing regulatory and operating
environment that may potentially affect the Group's business
and operations.

Risk Assessment

Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by management; and considers the impacts of risks
on the business caused by adverse events together with the
likelihood of occurrence of these adverse events.

Response to Risks

Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessments; and determines the risk mitigation plan and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid and mitigate the
risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place and resolve material internal control defects (if any);
revises the risk mitigation plan and internal control processes
in case of any significant change of situation; and reports the
results and make appropriate suggestions of risk monitoring to
management and the Board regularly.
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EXERHS

Procedures and Internal Control Measures for Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has in place, as an element of its risk management
and internal control systems, a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information, to ensure that inside
information is handled and disseminated properly and in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
department heads within the Group and an executive Director
are responsible for monitoring the changes and developments
in their respective areas of operation and report any potential
or suspected inside information events to the Board. Based
on this information obtained through internal reporting, the
Board assesses whether any of the information constitutes
inside information which needs to be released to the public.
Should public disclosure be required, the Board will determine
the scope of information to be disclosed and the timing of
disclosure. If and when appropriate, the Board may seek
independent professional advice to ensure that the Company
complies with the disclosure requirements.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
a high standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A
whistleblowing policy is in place to create a system for the
employees and other stakeholders of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties. The
identity of each whistleblower and all information provided in
connection with a whistleblowing report will be treated with
the strictest confidence.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group is committed to promoting a culture of compliance,
ethical conduct and good corporate governance within the
Group, and the Company prohibits all forms of corruption
and is committed to preventing and investigating all forms
of corruption. The Company has adopted an anti-corruption
policy to set out the specific behavioural guidelines that the
Group's personnel and business partners must follow to combat
corruption and demonstrate the Group’s commitment to
the practice of ethical business conduct and the compliance
of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its
operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control system and considered the Group's risk management
and internal control as adequate and effective.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of timely disclosure of corporate
information to its shareholders and public investors.

Information of the Company shall be communicated to the
shareholders and potential investors mainly through the
Company's quarterly, interim and annual reports, annual
general meetings and other general meetings that may be
convened as well as by making available all the disclosure
submitted to the Stock Exchange and the corporate
communications and other corporate publications on the
Company'’s website.

RIGHTS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS

Procedures for the Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Memorandum and Articles, any
one or more members holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals by
Shareholders at Shareholders’ Meetings

The shareholders may include a resolution to be considered
at an extraordinary general meeting. The requirements
and procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed
"Procedures for the Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting”.
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EXERHS

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

The shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (located at Room 4409, 44/F, COSCO
Tower, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong) by post or by
email to info@gysechk.com. Shareholders may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent
such information is publicly available.

Procedures for the Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a Director are posted on the Company'’s
website.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of (i) securities dealing
and brokerage services (Hong Kong and US stocks); (ii) placing
and underwriting services; (iii) financing services including
loan financing, securities and IPO margin financing and money
lending; (iv) asset management services; (v) supply chain
financing; (vi) trust services; and (vii) advisory and restructuring
services.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2024 are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review and analysis on the Group’s business
performance and the material factors underlying its financial
position during the year ended 31 March 2024, as well as the
development and likely future prospects of the Group’s business
are provided throughout this report and in particular under the
following separate sections:

(i) review of the Company's business and financial position
and development and future prospects of the Company’s
business are shown in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this report;

(i)  details of key performance indicators are shown in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this report;

(iii)  the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
are shown in the paragraph headed “Principal Risks and
Uncertainties” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”;

(iv) the Group’'s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations are shown in the paragraph headed
“Compliance with Relevant laws and regulations” below
and the "ESG Report 2024"; and
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(v) the Group's key relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers are shown in the paragraph headed “Key
Relationships with Key Stakeholders” below and the “ESG
Report 2024".

For details about the environmental policies and performance
of the Group, please refer to the “ESG Report 2024" issued
by the Company at the same time of the publication of the
Annual Report 2024 of the Company. The Company's ESG
Report 2024 was published in electronic form only under
the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website at
www.gyf.com.hk and is also available on the website of HKEX
at www.hkexnews.hk. If you wish to receive the printed version
of the ESG Report 2024, you may send your request in writing
to the Company’s head office and principal place of business in
Hong Kong.

The discussions referred to in the above form part of this report
of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements from pages 69 to
71 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for each of the last five financial years is set out on page
140 of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue attributable
to the Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
25.9% (31 March 2023: approximately 34.3%) of the Group’s
total revenue and the revenue attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 37.4%
(31 March 2023: approximately 66.3%) of the Group's total
revenue.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors,
their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules) nor any shareholder of the Company (who to the
best of the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the issued shares of the Company) had an interest in any of the
major customers above.

The Group had no supplier due to the nature of its principal
business activities.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debentures during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$35,634,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$38,794,000).
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum and Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company and was effective on 5 December
2016. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Scheme
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of
its adoption on 5 December 2016. Subject to the terms of the
Scheme, the Board shall be entitled to make an offer of the
grant of an option (the “Option”) to subscribe for shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company to any Directors, employees of the
Group, consultants or advisers of the Group, providers of goods
and/or services to the Group, customers of the Group, holders
of securities issued by any member of the Group, or any other
person, who at the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed
to the Group (the "Eligible Participants”), whom the Board
may select at its absolute discretion.

The purpose of the Scheme is to advance the interests of the
Company and the shareholders by enabling the Company
to grant Options to attract, retain and reward the Eligible
Participants and to provide the Eligible Participants an incentive
or reward for their contribution to the Group and by enabling
such persons’ contribution to further advance the interests of
the Group.
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The Board may in its absolute discretion specify such conditions
as it thinks fit when granting an Option to an Eligible
Participant (including, without limitation, as to any minimum
period an Option must have been held or the minimum period
of service or relationship with any member of the Group to
be achieved before an Option can be exercised (or any part
thereof), to the extent of the Option which can be exercised
at any material time, or any performance criteria which must
be satisfied by the Eligible Participant, the Company, and its
subsidiaries, before an Option may be exercised), provided that
such conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms
and conditions of the Scheme and the relevant requirements
under the applicable laws or the GEM Listing Rules.

The Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of ten
business days from the date on which the Option is granted.
The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the offer shall be a nominal amount to be
determined by the Board. The subscription price in respect of
any Option shall, subject to any adjustments made pursuant
to the terms of the Scheme, be a price determined by the
Board and notified to each grantee and shall be at least the
highest of: (i) the closing price per share of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the Options, which must be a day on which
the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities (“Trading Day"); (ii) the average of the closing prices
per share of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Trading Days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the Options; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company on the date of
grant of the Options.
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The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at 6 January 2017 (the
“Listing Date”) (i.e. 2,000,000,000 shares) unless the
Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders.
The Company may seek approval of shareholders in general
meeting to renew the 10% limit above such that the total
number of shares in respect of which Options may be granted
by the Board under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company in issue shall not exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the renewed limit. The Company may grant Options to
specified participant(s) beyond the 10% limit set out above
provided that the Options granted in excess of such limit are
specifically approved by the shareholders in general meeting
and the participants are specifically identified by the Company
before such approval is sought. Notwithstanding the foregoing
and subject to the maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant, the maximum number of shares in respect of which
Options may be granted under the Scheme together with any
Options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company in issue
shall not exceed 30% (or such higher percentage as may be
allowed under the GEM Listing Rules) of the total number of
shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each Eligible
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding Options
under the Scheme) in the twelve-month period expiring on
the offer date shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company, unless approval of the shareholders of the
Company has been obtained in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules. Where Options are proposed to be granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates, and the proposed
grant of Options will, result in the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all Options already granted
and to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the twelve— month period up to
and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company and
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000,
such grant must be approved by the shareholders of the
Company at general meeting in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules.
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An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine save that such period shall not exceed ten years from
the date of acceptance of the offer subject to the provisions of
early termination thereof.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 200,000,000 shares,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report. Since the adoption of the Scheme
and up to 31 March 2024, no Option was granted by the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Scheme as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or (ii) requires the Company to enter into any agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, was
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 March
2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices as adopted by
the Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, to the best of
knowledge of the Directors, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operations of the Group.

Further discussion on the Group's compliance with laws and
regulations is contained in the "ESG Report 2024".
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining a highly environmental and social standard to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
a better future depends on everyone's participation and
contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

The ESG Report 2024 conducted by a professional third
party for the Reporting Period will be published separately in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has 288 (31 March 2023:
239) active securities accounts. The Group is committed to
establish and maintain long term and harmonious relationships
with its customers. In order to maintain the relationships with
customers, various means have been established to strengthen
the communications between the Group and the customers
including email, telephone and face-to-face meeting. In
addition, the Group will continue to expand the customer
base by utilising the network it has and referrals from existing
customers.

The Group had no supplier due to the nature of its principal
business activities.

DONATION

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the
year ended 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: HK$30,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and
up to date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fok Yuk Tong (Chairman)

Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun

Ms. Fok Kit Yee

Mr. Lee Ho Leung William

O (appointed on 1 April 2023 and resigned on 2 January 2024)

Mr. Zhong Chu Jian
O (resigned on 1 April 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Hoi Wuen Katherine
Mr. Tong Wing Chi
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun

Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles, Ms. Fok Kit Yee and
Mr. Tong Wing Chi will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “2024 AGM").

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts
with the Company for a term of three years and be renewable
automatically for successive terms of three years unless and
until the termination by either party thereto by giving not less
than three months’ prior written notice and are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Memorandum and Articles.

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
a term of two years and either party may terminate such
appointment at any time by giving at least one month prior
notice in writing to the other and are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Memorandum
and Articles.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than the normal
statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to the requirement of rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is on the basis of the
qualifications and contributions of individuals to the Group
as well as the performance of the Group. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to eligible
participants, details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload and
time devoted to the Group and performance of the Group.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, five highest paid
individuals and senior management by band are set out in
notes 15, 16 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the requirements of the Memorandum and Articles
of Association and subject to applicable laws, every Director is
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto provided that such indemnity shall
not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to the Director. Such permitted indemnity
provision is currently in force and has become effective during
the Reporting Period.

The Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the
Company nor their respective close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party transactions during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of such related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction which is
subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and/or
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) held by the Directors and chief executives of the
Company (the “Chief Executives”) which have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or have to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise have to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules are as follows:
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Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of

RAEXEEREEO.OIHBTHEERS

the Company MFa
Approximate

Number of shares percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest held shareholding
EENA 517 #mtE Frisizin 8B IRHERIA TS
Mr. Fok (Note) Interest of controlled corporation 1,199,640,000 59.98
goooooao gooooo
Ms. Hsieh (Note) Interest of controlled corporation 1,199,640,000 59.98
goooooo goooog
Ms. Fok Beneficial interest 360,000 0.02
ooo ogooo
Note: ogo

The issued share capital of Chance Wise Investments Limited (“CWIL")
is beneficially owned as to 30% by Mr. Fok and 70% by Ms. Hsieh
respectively. Mr. Fok is the spouse of Ms. Hsieh. Therefore, Mr. Fok and
Ms. Hsieh are deemed to be interested in the 1,199,640,000 shares of
the Company held by CWIL by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or Chief Executives had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
nor any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which was required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors and the Chief Executives are aware,
as at 31 March 2024, other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives, the following person/corporation had or was
deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short position in
the shares or the underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which would be recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO,
or which would be, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group:

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of
the Company

Capacity/Nature of interest

515 HEEtE

Name

T

EE

0

FERRREMALTREAQTR
1P B ABRARR D B RE R Bk B

REB
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5000000

RAEAESREEC.O1BTHEERS
HiFE

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

Beneficial interest
oo0gao

CWIL (Note 1)

ooooooontg

Mega Wise Group Limited Beneficial interest
("MWGL") (Note 2)

0000000 0mESM
googz2d

ooono

Dr. Lee Chun Pong Bruce
("Dr. Lee") (Note 2)
0000 0mZE+m

gooz2d

oooooo

Ms. Chow Nim Pui
("Ms. Chow") (Note 3)
000D00mB@ARtEm
00030

Interest of spouse

oooo

Interest of a controlled corporation

held shareholding
FrfsiRin BB  RESOESLT
1,199,640,000 59.98
300,000,000 15.00
300,000,000 15.00
300,000,000 15.00
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Notes:

1. The issued share capital of CWIL is beneficially owned as to
30% by Mr. Fok and 70% by Ms. Hsieh respectively. Mr. Fok is
the spouse of Ms. Hsieh. Therefore, Mr. Fok and Ms. Hsieh are
deemed to be interested in the 1,199,640,000 shares of the
Company held by CWIL by virtue of the SFO.

2. MWGL is wholly-owned by Dr. Lee. Therefore, Dr. Lee is deemed
to be interested in the 300,000,000 shares of the Company held
by MWGL by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. Chow is the spouse of Dr. Lee. Therefore, Ms. Chow is
deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 shares of the
Company held by Dr. Lee through MWGL under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any person or corporation (other than
the Directors and the Chief Executives) who had any interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, which would have to be
recorded in the register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations” and “Share Option Scheme” in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or its parent company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and Chief
Executives (including their respective spouse and children
under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for those disclosed under the section headed "Related
Party Transactions and Connected Transactions” above and
those disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
which subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
March 2024 to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or its parent company was a party and in which a Director
or a connected entity of that Director has or had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

Save as disclosed herein, during the Reporting Period, there
was no contract of significance entered into between the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and any of the controlling
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the best of the knowledge of the
Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient public
float of 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 14 April 2021, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB")
resigned as the auditor of the Company. Following the
resignation of HLB, the Board appointed ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”) as the new auditor of the
Company with effect from 14 April 2021 to fill the casual
vacancy.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 were audited by Zhonghui Anda
and a resolution will be proposed at 2024 AGM to re-appoint
Zhonghui Anda as the auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
auditor of the Company during the past three years.

2024 AGM

The 2024 AGM is scheduled to be held on Wednesday,
25 September 2024. For determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, the transfer books and register
of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
20 September 2024 to Wednesday, 25 September 2024, both
days inclusive. During such period, no share transfers will be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2024 AGM, all share transfer documents, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange Square,
338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 19 September 2024.

On behalf of the Board

Fok Yuk Tong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

T g
ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GAOYU FINANCE GROUP LIMITED

(Formerly known as PF Group Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 69 to 139, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of accounts receivables
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balance of accounts receivables of
HK$152,466,000 as at 31 March 2024 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

—  Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;
- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for accounts
receivables is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information in
the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards—setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reEmREMEEINER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

2024 2023
—E_MFE oo00ood
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
oo FET ooo
Revenue it
Commission income from securities dealing ocoooooo
and brokerage services ooooag
googn 2,073 1,234
Fee and commission income from placing ocoooooo
and underwriting activities oooooo
oooo 2,436 396
Interest income from margin and oooooooo
loan financing services ooooo
goon 8,990 8,061
Supply chain financing ooooo 8,430 2,024
Advisory and restructuring fee incomes oooooooo 312 1,920
Asset management services gooobooo 440 -
Others oo 910 120
Total revenue goo 7 23,591 13,755
Bank interest income oooggo 690 384
Fair value change on investments at ooooooogo
fair value through profit or loss gooooooo 6,704 232
Other gains oooo 8 1,942 1,735
32,927 16,106
Commission expenses oooo 9 (417) (416)
Depreciation expenses for gooooo
property and equipment ooogo (1,750) (1,766)
Depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets oooooo
oooo (1,486) (1,318)
Staff costs ooogo 10 (7,317) (8,021)
Other operating expenses googgod 11 (10,525) (8,594)
Impairment of assets oooo 12 (1,831) (2,322)
Finance costs ooogo 13 (129) (175)
Exchange gain/(loss) ooooooooag 144 (3,023)
Profit/(loss) before tax goooooooon 9,616 (9,529)
Income tax expense ooooo 14 (726) -
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/(loss) 0O 0O 0 0O 000 000
for the year ooooooooo
oo 8,890 (9,529)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/(loss) O OO OO0 OO0
for the year attributable to: Oo0moomoo
gooooooood
Owners of the company opogoooo 8,887 (9,514)
Non-controlling interests ooooao 3 (15)
8,890 (9,529)
HK cents HK cents
Ml oo
Profit/(Loss) per share SREN (58
Basic and diluted ooooag 17 0.44 (0.48)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEMBIRR

AS AT 31 MARCH 202400 000000000O00ODO

2024 2023
g mE ooooo
Notes HK$000 HK$000
oo FHET ooo
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment ooooo 19 3,840 5,564
Right-of-use assets OOoo0oo 20 7,146 1,464
Deposits placed with stock exchange and oooooooo
clearing house ooooooo 21 605 630
Loan receivables oooo 22 - 1,016
11,591 8,674
Current assets TMENE E
Accounts receivables oooo 23 152,466 108,882
Loan receivables oooo 22 2,071 317
Rental and utility deposits oooooooo 24 918 828
Prepayments and other receivables ooooooo
agooo 1,981 1,663
Investments at fair value through profit or loss oooooogoo
aad 25 13,842 7,962
Due from non-controlling shareholders oooooogoo 26 600 -
Cash and bank balances: oooooood
Bank balance — house accounts O0ooooooo 27 10,153 36,617
Cash held on behalf of customers ooooooboono 27 35,669 32,212
217,700 188,481
Current liabilities mEaE
Accounts payables oooo 28 37,715 35,780
Due to a related company oooooooo
ad 29 28,388 11,722
Other payables and accruals ooooooo
oooo 30 1,423 2,878
Lease liabilities ooono 317 2,184 2,705
Current tax payables oooooad 726 -
70,436 53,085
Net current assets MBEEFRE 147,264 135,396
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERTHER 158,855 144,070
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SHMFIRIR

AS AT 31 MARCH 202400 00000000000

nv'F

2024 2023
ZEIWE 00000
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
oo FET ooo
Non-current liabilities JEREIEE
Lease liabilities ooono 317 4,960 265
NET ASSETS BERE 153,895 143,805
Equity Rz
Share capital 0og 32 20,000 20,000
Reserves 00 34 132,707 123,820
Equity attributable to owners of ETATEEA
the Company FEAGHE = 152,707 143,820
Non-controlling interests ooooo 1,188 (15)
TOTAL EQUITY B iRE 153,895 143,805

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
21 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Fok Yuk Tong
EXE

Director

oooooooooooboobobon

oooobooooocoooooooboon

ao

Hsieh Ching Chun

Director

oo
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEmEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 000000 O0000D0OOCOOO

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRR AR
Non-
Share Share Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves profits Total interests Total

Bx  ROEE A RREN B EiERED ®t

HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000

oo oog ooa oog oog ooa oog
(Note 32)  (Note 34(z)  (Note 34(b))
000320 00034@)0 000346)0

t 1 April 2022 0ooboooooo 20,000 43,229 9,762 75,343 153,334 - 153,334
Total comprehensive loss for the year oooooooo - - - (9,514) (9,514) (15) (9,529)
At 31 March 2023 oooooo

gooooo 20,000 48,229 9,762 65,829 143,820 (15) 143,805
At 1 April 2023 RZZ2Z=%MA-A 20,000 48,229 9,762 65829 143,820 (15) 143,805
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERRERRLEE - - - 8,887 8,887 3 8,890
Contribution by non-controlling WEAREERRELIE
shareholders of a subsidiary - - - - - 1,200 1,200
At 31 March 2024 RIZZMmE
=B=+-H 20,000 48,229 9,762 74716 152,707 1188 153,895
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SHERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 202400 000000000000 CODO

n\7r\

2024 2023
—E_MF oo0O00d
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET ooo
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHEENIRERE
Profit/(loss) before tax oooooooooo 9,616 (9,529)
Adjustments for: oooooooo
Bank interest income oooooo (690) (384)
Finance costs oooo 129 175
Depreciation of property and equipment ooooooog 1,750 1,766
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0000o00oo 1,486 1,318
Loss on disposal of property and equipment oooooooooo - 6
Fair value gain on investments at fair value through ooooooooo
profit or loss ooooooogo (6,704) (232)
Impairment of assets oooo 1,831 2,322
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital change O 000000000
gobooooo 7,418 (4,558)
Change in bank balances - client accounts O0o0ooDoooooon (3,457) 4,833
Change in rental and utility deposits ooooooogoo (90) 24
Change in accounts receivable oooooo (45,415) (60,510)
Change in prepayments and other receivables ooooooooo
gooo (293) 553
Change in loan receivables oooooad (738) 345
Change in accounts payable oooooo 1,935 (2,384)
Change in other payables and accruals ooooooooo
googo (1,812) 435
Cash used in operating activities ooooooono (42,452) (61,262)
Bank interest received oooooo 690 384
Net cash used in operating activities REEFFFAREEEE (41,762) (60,878)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBEENHERE
Purchase of investments at fair value through ooooooooood
profit or loss oo - (7,730)
Proceeds from disposals of investments at doooooooooo
fair value through profit or loss Ooooooog 824 -
Purchases of property and equipment oooooog (26) (56)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBEE, FrA)
investing activities REFE 798 (7,786)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 000000 O0000D0OOCOOO

2024 2023
ZE@E 00000
HKS$'000  HK$'000
FET ooo
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REIFHEENRERE
Advance from a related company ooooooooo 16,666 11,722
Contribution by non-controlling shareholders of ddooooooooo
a subsidiary 600 -
Interest paid oooo - (22)
Repayment of lease liabilities oooooo (2,766) (2,763)
Net cash generated from financing activities MEESEENREFEE 14,500 8,937
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IR RIRSLEMiR L BEE (26,464) (59,727)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EVRERREELEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 36,617 96,344
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR HFFXREERELZEY 10,153 36,617
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERREEEYMDH
Bank balance — house accounts ooooooooo 10,153 36,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

GENERAL INFORMATION

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is Room 4409, 44/F COSCO Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares were listed on
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 6 January 2017.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the Company’s
extraordinary general meeting held on 7 December 2023,
the English name of the Company has been changed from
“PF Group Holdings Limited” to “Gaoyu Finance Group
Limited” and the Chinese name "0 000 O0O00OO0O"
has been adopted as the new dual foreign name of the
Company. Subsequently, the Certificate of Incorporation
on Change of Name and the Certificate of Registration
of Alternation of Name of Registered Non-Hong Kong
Company were issued by the Registrar of Companies in
the Cayman Islands and the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong on 7 December 2023 and 21 December 2023
respectively to certify the change of the Company’s name.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 April 2023. HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS");
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported
for the current year and prior years.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would
have a material impact on its results of operations and
financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investments at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group ‘s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company ‘s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

(c)

financial statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company's presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Furniture and equipment  20%

Leasehold improvement Shorter of 20% and over the
lease terms

Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings over the lease term of 1 year
to 3 years

Office equipment over the lease term of 5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined,
or otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease
liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,000).

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

—  Investments at fair value through profit or loss

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including accounts and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R M GE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHFI 00

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) ETMEE OO

(i) Investments at fair value through profit or (i) BERFEAABRDZRE
loss
Financial assets are classified under this category ooooooooooooo
if they do not meet the conditions to be ooooooooooooo
measured at amortised cost and the conditions Oooooooooooao
of debt investments at fair value through other oooooooooooon
comprehensive income unless the Group designates oo0oooooooooon
an equity investment that is not held for trading as ooooooooooooo
at fair value through other comprehensive income ooooooooooooao
on initial recognition. ooog
Investments at fair value through profit or loss ogoooooooooooo
are subsequently measured at fair value with any Oooooooooooon
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values ooooooooooooo
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains ooooooooooooao
or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of ooooooooooooo
any interest income and dividend income. Interest Oooooooooooon
income and dividend income are recognised in profit Oooooooooo
or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses FRHAEERIEZ B E

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit ooooooooooooooo

losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected ooooooooooooooog

credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses oooooooDoooooooo

with the respective risks of a default occurring as the oooooooooo

weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures oooooooDoooooood

the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount gooooooooooooooo

equal to the expected credit losses that result from all oooooooooooooooo

possible default events over the expected life of that oooDoooDooooooooon

financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) 00000000 OmZ=8AFERRE

for accounts receivable, or if the credit risk on that g0 o0000o000ooag

financial instrument has increased significantly since initial oood

recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than accounts receivable)
has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit
losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially stated at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised good or service
separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price
is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price
ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects
the amount of consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.

Commission income from securities dealing and
brokerage services

Securities brokerage commission income is recognised on
trade date basis when the relevant sale or purchase of
securities transactions is executed.

Fee and commission income from placing and
underwriting services and professional service fee
income

Placing and underwriting commission and professional
service fee income are recognised in accordance with the
terms of the underlying agreement or deal mandate when
the relevant significant act has been completed.

Advisory and structuring fee incomes

Fee income from advisory and structuring services is
recognised as income in accordance with the terms of
the agreements on the signature date. Advisory and
structuring fee income are charged at a fixed amount by
the agreement of each client.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Fee income from asset management services

Fee income from asset management services is
recognised as income in accordance with the terms of the
agreements on the valuation date. Asset management
fee income are charged at a fixed amount and a fixed
percentage per month of the net asset value of the
managed accounts under management of the Group.
Investment advisory fee income is charged at a fixed
amount per month for managing the investment portfolio
of each client.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Government subsidies

A government subsidy is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R M GE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If
the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a
parent of the Company.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR RMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 000000 O0000D0OOCOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets except investments and
receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. HEHFAHEERZNEERIE
UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other ooooooDoDoooooooo
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the ooooooDoDoooooooo
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing ooooooDOoooooooooo
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 00oDoo0ooooooooooon
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed o0o0oooOooooogooo
below.
Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts RIRER R {ERESTE
The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful Joo0oo0ooDoDooooooooao
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of the ogooooooooooooooa
accounts receivables, deposits, loan receivables and other dooDpDooooooooooo
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the JoodoDooooooooog
past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise joooooooDoooooooo
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that Joo0ooOooooDoooooog
the balances may not be collectible. The identification of Joo0oo0ooooDooooooo
bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement gooooooooooooooo
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from JodooooooobDooooo
the original estimate, such difference will impact the Oo0ooooooooooooo
carrying value of the accounts receivable, deposits, loan ooooooo
receivables and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. EMTHA
Categories of financial instruments EMIAZ7EE
2024 2023
—E-ME oo00o
HK$000 HK$°000
FET ooo
Financial assets: EREE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss goooooooooao 13,842 7,962
Financial assets at amortised cost (includingcash 00000000 O0O0O0O
and cash equivalents) oooooooooooo 204,461 181,882
Financial liabilities: EHMEaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost O0o0ooooooooon 73,574 52,619
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's risk management objectives are to achieve
a proper balance between risks and yield, minimise
the adverse impacts of risks on the Group’s operating
performance, and maximise the benefits of the
shareholders. Based on these risk management objectives,
the Group’s basic risk management strategy is to identify
and analyse the various risks the Group is exposed to, and
to establish an appropriate tolerance for risk management
practice, so as to monitor, notify and respond to the
risks regularly and effectively and to control risks at an
acceptable level.

The risks the Group is exposed to in its daily operating
activities mainly include market risk (including currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group has established policies and procedures accordingly
to identify and analyse the risks. The Group has set up
appropriate risk indicators, risk limits, risk policies and
internal control process. The Group also manages risks
with information system on a continuous monitoring
basis.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk

Interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, the cash flow interest
rate risk mainly arises from the Group’s bank balances
(house account), which are financial instruments carried
at variable interest rates. Based on the year end interest
bearing bank balances (house account), if interest rates
had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$51,000 (2023:
approximately HK$183,000).

The due to a related company bear interest at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair value
interest rate risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk of loss due to adverse movements
in foreign exchange rates relating to foreign currency
deposits with banks, due to a related company and
accounts receivables. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
foreign currency denominated monetary assets at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ST E o

™ 15 & g

00000000 00000000
00MOO0O0D000000000
00000000 00000000
00000000000 00000
0000000500000000
0000000000000000
00000000000 0000
00000000000 0000
51,0000 000 0 00 000 183,000
00m

goooobooooobooao
googooogooobooooooo

Bi5m ez
gooooooooboooboooo
oooooooboooooboooao
goooooobooooobooo
gboooooooboooobooo
goooooooboobooo

2024 2023
—E_WF 00000

Foreign currency  HK$'000 HK$°000

FAET ooo

Bank balances oooo usb 00O 595 8,741
RMB O OO 31 1M

Due to a related company oooooooooo usb 00O 28,388 11,722
Accounts receivables ogoono usb O O 115,150 38,994

As USD is pegged to HK$, the Group does not expect any
significant movement in the USD/HK$ exchange rate. The
following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

ST E 0o
iRk OO
B 00

Decrease/increase
in loss before tax

PRA AT SRR LGN

2024 2023

—EMF 00000

HKS$'000 HK$'000

As at 31 March Oooooooo FAET oo
If Hong Kong Dollar strengthens/weakens ooooooo

against RMB by 5% O0O0005% 2 1

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
accounts receivables, loan receivables, other receivables,
due from non-controlling shareholders and cash and
bank balances as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
has concentration of credit risk on accounts receivable
as 75.53% (2023: 93.38%) of the total accounts
receivable was due from top five largest customers and
HK$9,614,000 (2023: nil) of the total accounts receivable
was due from a clearing house.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit losses
provision for all accounts receivable relate to revenue from
contracts with customers under HKFRS 15. To measure
the expected credit losses, accounts receivable has been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit losses. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking macroeconomic data
(for example, the economic growth rates which reflect
the general economic conditions of the industry in which
debtors operate).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group makes
periodic assessment on the recoverability of the accounts
receivables by measurement of expected credit losses.
The management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to all clients
including cash and margin clients. This ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Cash
clients are required to place deposits as prescribed by the
Group's credit policy before execution of any purchase
transaction. Receivables due from cash clients are
normally due within two trading days after the trade date.
Because of the prescribed deposit requirements and the
short settlement period involved, credit risk arising from
the accounts receivables from cash clients is considered
insignificant. In addition, the Group holds collateral
to cover its credit risks associated with its accounts
receivables from margin clients, loan financing clients and
supply chain financing clients as mentioned in Note 23
and reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
accounts receivables at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group assesses the credit
losses of its margin clients, loan financing clients and
supply chain financing clients using the general approach
and assessment individually. The Group assesses whether
the credit risk of the accounts receivables from margin
clients, loan financing clients and supply chain financing
clients have increased significantly since their initial
recognition, and apply a three-stage impairment model
to calculate their expected credit losses, the management
assesses impairment loss using the risk parameter
modelling approach that incorporates key measurement
parameters, including probability of default, loss given
default and exposure at default, with the consideration of
forward-looking information. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced. Generally, accounts receivables
are written off if past due for more than two years.
Other than concentration of credit risk on accounts
receivables, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the collaterals and
the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from accounts
receivables are disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses the credit losses of its loan receivables
clients using the general approach and assessment
individually. The Group assesses whether the credit
risk of the loan receivables have increased significantly
since their initial recognition, and apply a three-stage
impairment model to calculate their expected credit
losses, the management assesses impairment loss using
the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates
key measurement parameters, including probability of
default, loss given default and exposure at default, with
the consideration of forward-looking information. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts
of other receivables and deposits were approximately of
HK$2,397,000 (2023: approximately of HK$2,838,000).
The credit risks on these balances are low because the
counterparties have a low risk of default and do not have
any past-due amounts and concluded the expected credit
losses on these balances are insignificant at 12-month
expected credit losses for both years.

Due from non-controlling shareholders are closely
monitored by directors of the Company.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with several
banks with high credit rating. The credit risk on liquid
funds and accounts receivable from clearing house is
limited because the counterparties are bank and a clearing
house with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies. Other than concentration of credit
risk on liquid funds and accounts receivable, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit
risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deems adequate by the management to

finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The tables below present the cash flows payable by the
Group within the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period. The amounts disclosed
in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest rates are floating, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
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end of the reporting period.

Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than Between Between undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year 1to2years  2to5years cash flow amount
i REXRY KRB
SRSl 1ER 1525 2E58 RERERH REE
% HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
ooo ooo oog ooo ooo
At 31 March 2024 RZBZME
=R=+-H

Other payables oooooo - 246 - - 246 246
Dividends payables 0000 - 81 - - 81 81
Due to a related company oooooooooo - 28,388 - - 28,388 28,388

Accounts payable arising fromthe 000000000

business of dealing in securities: 00000
- Cash clients ooooao - 35,061 - - 35,061 35,061
- Margin clients 0ooooo - 2,654 - - 2,654 2,654
Lease liabilities oooo 5.38 2,540 2,529 2,750 7,819 7,144
68,970 2,529 2,750 74,249 73,574
At 31 March 2023 oooooo
gooooo

Other payables oooooo - 2,071 - - 2,071 2,071
Dividends payables o000 - 76 - - 76 76
Due to a related company goooooooooa - 11,722 - - 11,722 11,722

Accounts payable arising fromthe 000000000

business of dealing in securities: 00000

- Clearing house gooao - 2,544 - - 2,544 2,544
- Cash clients goooo = 31,155 S S 31,155 31,155
- Margin clients oooooo - 2,081 - - 2,081 2,081
Lease liabilities oooo 4.42 2,766 242 27 3,035 2,970
52,415 242 27 52,684 52,619
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments) with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively;

the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices or rates from observable current
market transactions as input; and

the fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives.

Except as detailed in the following tables, the directors
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. AF¥EFE o0

Fair value measurements recognised in the MR EMBRARERINAFEE

consolidated statement of financial position =

The following table provides an analysis of financial ooooooooooooooao

instruments that are measured subsequent to initial gooooooooooooooo

recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based Jdddooooooooo

on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

(i) Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived () OooOOoOooDooOooOOoOooao
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for ooooooooooooo
identical assets or liabilities; oo0ooom

(i)  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived (i) OOOoOoOoDOoOoDOOoOooao
from inputs, other than quoted prices included Oo0o0ooooooooooon
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or ooooooooooooon
liability, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. ooooooooDooooo
derived from prices); and H]

(iii) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived (i) JoOoOooDOoOooDOOoOooao
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the Oooooooooooooo
asset or liability that are not based on observable oooooooooooooon
market data (unobservable inputs). ooooooooDom

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy as at 31 RZE_NFE=HA=+—HWAF

March 2024 BEERKFIRE

Fair value
measurements
using:
ERUTESR
NAFEFE:
Level 1
B—iR
HK$°000
FET
Financial assets EMEE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss ooooooooooo
Listed securities in Hong Kong oooooo 13,842

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the years.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. AFEFHEIOOD
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy as at 31 March oooooooDooooooog
2023 ooooooOoo
Fair value
measurements
using:
oooooo
ooooooo
Level 1
Ooono
HK$'000
0onon
Financial assets EREE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss jddoooooooo
Listed securities in Hong Kong oooooad 7,962
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during 0000000oooooooooo
the years. ooooooooo
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEkDHEN

The chief operating decision maker ("CODM?") of
the Group, being the executive directors and senior
management of the Group, regularly review revenue
analysis by major services to make decisions about
resource allocation. No discrete financial information
other than revenue is regularly provided to the CODM.
The management assesses the performance of the
Group based on the revenue and profit as presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

No segment assets or liabilities is presented as the CODM
does not review segment assets and liabilities.

O00D0O00D0D0MEESEE
READDODOODDOODDOOO
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00000000000 DoOooD
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue from major services

The Group provides seven types of services:

(a)

(b)

(@

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

securities dealing and brokerage services, which
primarily generate commission on securities dealing;

placing and underwriting services, which primarily
generate fee and commission from equity and debt
securities placing and underwriting;

financing services, including securities and IPO
margin financing, loan financing and money lending,
which generate interest income from margin and
loan financing clients;

supply chain financing is an alternative financial
service under the margin and loan financing
and money lending which provides supply chain
financing and logistic services to wholesalers for
their trading businesses in respect of 3C (computer,
communication and consumer electronics) products;

asset management services, which primarily generate
management fee and performance fee;

advisory and restructuring services, which provide
professional advice and money lending for
restructuring;

trust services, which provide professional trust
services to its high net worth clients, in order to fulfil
their needs of asset protection, tax planning and
wealth management; and

other services, which primarily generate fee income
(such as agency fee, professional service fee, loan
commitment fees and referral fees) from other
services provided.

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts
received and receivable from third parties, income from
securities dealing and brokerage services, placing and
underwriting services and advisory and restructuring
services. Revenue recognised during the years are as
followings:
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEkaAHERHOD
(Continued)
Revenue from major services (Continued) FERBAREW= OO0
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REERSHKR=ENES
customers:

2024 2023

—E-WE 00000
HK$’000 HK$000
FET ooo

Securities dealing and brokerage services doooooooo 2,073 1,234

Placing and underwriting services ooooooo 2,436 396

Professional service fee income goooooao 910 120

Advisory and restructuring fee incomes ooooooog 312 1,920

Asset management services goooog 440 -

Revenue from contracts with customers oooooo 6,171 3,670

Revenue from other sources 7k B H fth 2R B Y =

Interest income from margin financing services O0o0o000000o0OooOoo 8,061 6,104

Interest income from loan financing and ooooooogooo

money lending oooo 929 1,957

Interest income from supply chain financing dooooooooo 8,430 2,024
17,420 10,085
23,591 13,755

Timing of revenue recognition: B S0 Uk 2 Y BRF R

A point in time Ooo0oooono 6,171 3,670
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(Continued)
Geographical information

The Group's non-current assets are located in Hong Kong.
The Group operates in Hong Kong and its revenue is

derived from its operations in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers contributing over 10% of

the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Wm Ko E R oo
wMEER

goooooooobooooooo
ooooooboboooogooooao
oo

FEEXFREH
0ooooo00O0O0O010%0000
0ooooo

2024 2023
—EmEFE 00000
HK$000  HK$'000

FET ooo
Customer A O0OA 6,333 2,024
Customer B OoosB 6,113 4,715

8. OTHER GAINS 8. Hfitkz=
2024 2023
ZEINE 00000
HK$000 HK$000
F#ET ooo
Government subsidies ooogo 1,092 360
Settlement and handling fee oooooo - 318
Sundry income ooogo 850 1,057
1,942 1,735

9. COMMISSION EXPENSES 9. AEMX
2024 2023
“EIMNE 00000
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET ooo
Commission to account executives oooooooooo 288 416
Commission to others ooooooooon 129 -
417 416
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10. STAFF COSTS 10. ETRA
2024 2023
—E_mfF 00000
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET ooo
Salaries and bonus ooooo 5,244 5,407
Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund ooooooog 174 214
Directors’ emoluments (Note 15) 0o0oooooisg
— Fees goo 1,833 2,352
— Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund ooooooooo 66 48
7,317 8,021
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 1. HtESHX
2024 2023
—E_MFE oo0D0OO
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET ooo
Auditor's remuneration oooog
— audit services goooo 680 600
— non-audit services gooooo 6 6
Bank charges oooo 44 39
Donations oo - 30
Entertainment expenses oooogo 169 132
Legal and professional fee ooooooo 6,044 2,770
Office management charges ooooooo 531 300
Expenses related to short-term leases Ooooooooooo - 1,958
Rates oo 143 152
Office supplies and utilities oooooooo 291 330
Software and stock information expenses OooooDoooooo
oo 1,630 1,860
Travelling and transportation expenses ooooooao 178 -
Others oo 809 417
10,525 8,594

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 000000 O0000D0OOCOOO

12. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 12. EERE
2024 2023
“EINE 00000
HKS$000 HK$000
FET ooo
Impairment loss on account receivables oooooood 1,831 2,322
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. REM A
2024 2023
ZEINE 00000
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET ooo
Interest on due to a related company oooooooooooog - 22
Interest on lease liabilities oooooo 129 153
219 175
14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FRIEMEAZ
2024 2023
ZEINME 00000
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET ooo
Current tax: ooooo
Hong Kong Profits Tax ooogo 726 -
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 8.25% on assessable profits up to HK$2,000,000
and 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over
HK$2,000,000 for the year end 31 March 2024. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2023 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during that

year.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to profit/
(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit

14. FRERHES 0o

gbooo0ooboooooonbd
gooooooogo?2,000,0000
o00000O000D08.25%000
gz0o00000000b00OobooOoOon
ogooooves5%00000000
ooooooDbDOooooooDo
gbooooboooooond

oooooobobbooooogooono
ooooooooo

goooobooooobooo
gooooobboooooooon

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: goooo
2024 2023
ZEZNEFE 00000
HKS$'000 HK$°000
FET ooo
Profit/(loss) before tax ooooooooon 9,616 (9,529)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 00000000 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) O0o0o00oO16.5%0
ogooog 1,587 (1,572)
Tax relief of 8.25% on first HK$2 million 02,000,0000 0000
assessable profit 0008.25%0000 (165) -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax Jdddooooooo
purpose 812 1,241
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose OO O0OO0OOOOOOO (1,433) (123)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised D OO0 0 OO0 OO0 OO0OO 187 382
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not oooooooooooo
previously recognised oooo (276) 47)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised Oooooooooooog 14 119
Tax expenses for the years goooggd 726 -
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14. FREMRASD 00
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no O0O0o0D0DOo0oDO0oooDoooao
material deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from goooooocooooooooo
deductible or taxable temporary differences. dooouooooooooooao
ogooog
At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has oooooooooooooao
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$19,667,000 19,667,0000 00000000
(2023: HK$22,029,000) available for offset against 22,029, 0000 000D OUOOoOO
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised Joo0ooooooooooooo
in respect of remaining HK$3,295,000 (2023: 0000000 000aoda3,295,000
HK$3,635,000) due to the unpredictability of future 0000000 gos,e35000000
profit streams. The tax losses may be carried forward gooooooooooooooo
indefinitely. oooooo
15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 15. EFM=E
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_T-_NME=RA=+—HL
FE

Contributions
to Mandatory

Director fees Salaries Provident Fund Total
Eertald
EEHE e YN EASEN Mzt
HK$'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FET
Name %4
Executive director: WITESE:
Mr. Fok Yuk Tong ooooo 782 - 18 800
Ms. Fok Kit Yee oooono 240 - 12 252
Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun ooooo 360 - 18 378
Mr. Lee, Ho Leung William (Note i) 000000000 91 900 18 1,009
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHITEE:
director:
Ms. Chan, Katherine Hoi Wuen oooono 120 - - 120
Mr. Tong Wing Chi ooooo 120 - - 120
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun oooaon 120 - - 120
Total for 2024 B NEME 1,833 900 66 2,799
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15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 15. EFM T 00
For the year ended 31 March 2023 ooooooooooooooon
O
Contributions
to Mandatory
Director fees  Provident Fund Total
goao
gooa gooon oo
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
ooo ooo ooo
Name i
Executive director: HITER:
Mr. Fok Yuk Tong goooo 1,272 18 1,290
Ms. Fok Kit Yee goooo 240 12 252
Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun opoood 360 18 378
Mr. Zhong Chu Jian (Note ii) goooooogio 120 - 120
Independent non-executive director: BIUERITES :
Ms. Chan, Katherine Hoi Wuen goooao 120 - 120
Mr. Tong Wing Chi opoood 120 - 120
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun goooao 120 - 120
Total for 2023 —ECFEH 2,352 48 2,400
Notes: ogoo
(i) Mr. Lee, Ho Leung William was appointed as an executive (i) O0ooooooooooooon
director on 1 April 2023 and resigned on 2 January 2024. O0oo0O0oooooooooog
ooooooo
(i) Mr. Zhong Chu Jian was resigned on 1 April 2023. (i) OODODOO0OOoOOoOoOoOoOOOOo
ooQg
The directors’ emoluments shown above were for their 000000 0o0ooooooon
services as directors of the Company and subsidiaries o00oooooooooooooo

undertaking of the Company.

The bonuses are discretionary and determined with ooooooooooooooon
reference to the Group’s and the individuals' performance. ooood

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no directors of the o0oooooooooooooao
Company waived any emoluments and no emoluments oooo0o0o0ooOoOoOOoO0OO0OO0OO0OO0O0
were paid by the Group to any of the directors of the ooooooooooooooon
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the 0o0ooooooooogooooo
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: nil). 0o0oooooooooooood

gm
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16. HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 16. EEm#AL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the o0oooooooooooooo
Group, three (2023: two) out of the five individuals were 0000000 ooooooon
directors of the Company whose emoluments are included ooooooilssoooooooog
in the disclosures in Note 15 above. The emolument ooooooooooOooooood
of the remaining two (2023: three) individuals were as
follows:

2024 2023
“EINE 00000
HK$°000  HKS$'000
F#ET 00O

Basic salaries and allowances ooooooog 1,080 1,899

Contribution to retirement benefit schemes oooooooo 33 42
1,113 1,941

The number of the highest paid individuals (excluding oooooooooooooooo

directors) whose emoluments were within the following Ooo00oooooooo

band:

Number of employees

BE AR

2024 2023
—E-WNE 00000

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 O 1,000,0000 O 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0010 O O

1,500,0000 O - 1
Bonuses are discretionary and determined with reference gooooooDoooooooo
to the Group's and the individuals’ performance. No gooooooooooooooo
emoluments have been paid to these individuals as an jooooooooooooooao
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as oooooooooo

compensation for loss of office during the year.
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18.
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PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic profit/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

17. §ER 7 (B518)

gbooo0ooboooooonbd

odoooooooooooaoo

2024 2023
ZE@E 00000
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET ooo

Profit/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the purpose of calculating basic
income/(loss) per share:
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to

i, (E518)

0000000000000
00000000 m
0ooooooooo

owners of the Company ooooood 8,887 (9,514)
2024 2023
—E_WmE 00000
‘000 ‘000
FiR oo
Number of shares oooo
Weighted average number of ordinary sharesfor OO0 0000000
the purpose of calculating basic loss per share oooooooo 2,000,000 2,000,000

The calculation of basic profit/(loss) per share is based on
the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$8,887,000 (2023: loss approximately
HK$9,514,000) and the weighted average number of
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares in issue for both years.

Diluted profit/(loss) per share were same as the basic
profit/(loss) per share as there were no potential dilutive
ordinary shares in existences during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to shareholders of the Company for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

gooobOoobobooooooo
goobooOoooooboooooo
goos,ssz,oo000oboooooOon
gogost4oo0000000000
0oooooz2.000,0000000000

gbooooobooooooonood
gbooooobooooooboooao
oooooooooooooooano
moomoooooomoon
oo

18- Hglé\

goobOoooooobooboo
gobooooobooooonon
gobooooboooooo

oo
go
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19. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 19. MERRE
Furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment improvement vehicles Total
GRkRE BEMEEE pat: st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
ooo ooo ooo oono
Cost D
At 1 April 2022 gooOooooooo 3,084 3,669 6,198 12,951
Additions oo 56 - - 56
Written off oo (259) - - (259)
At 31 March 2023 and goooO0ooooooooo
1 April 2023 opbpooooooao 2,881 3,669 6,198 12,748
Additions 0d 17 9 - 26
Written off 0o - (52) - (52)
At 31 March 2024 goo0O0000000o0Oo 2,898 3,626 6,198 12,722
Accumulated depreciation ZitinE
At 1 April 2022 gooooooooo 2,756 2,192 723 5,671
Provided for the year gooo 115 412 1,239 1,766
Impairment loss gooo (253) - - (253)
At 31 March 2023 and gooooOoooooooao
1 April 2023 gooobooon 2,618 2,604 1,962 7,184
Provided for the year gooa 97 414 1,239 1,750
Written off oo - (52) - (52)
At 31 March 2024 goboooooooooo 2,715 2,966 3,201 8,882
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_ME=A=+—H 183 660 2,997 3,840
At 31 March 2023 0Ooo0O0o0Oo0oooooo 263 1,065 4,236 5,564

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable
amount of its plant and equipment in 2024 as a result
of the deterioration of the markets of the Group’s
services. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets of HK$3,840,000 (2023: HK$5,564,000) has
been determined on the basis of their value in use
using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The discount rate used was 12 per cent
(2023: 12 per cent).
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20.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Disclosures of lease-related items:

20. EFAHEEE

goooooooooo

2024 2023
—E_MF oo000d
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET ooao
At 31 March: gooooooa
Right-of-use assets ooooo
- Land and buildings oooooog 7,111 1,418
— Office equipment gooog 35 46
7,146 1,464
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted oooooooooooo
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is as ooooDooooooo
follows: ood
— Less than 1 year o1ooo 2,540 2,766
— Between 1 and 2 years 01020 2,529 242
— Between 2 and 5 years 02050 2,750 27
7,819 3,035
2024 2023
—E-ME oo00O
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET ooo
Year ended 31 March: BE=RA=1+—HLFE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets oooooooooo
- Land and buildings oooooog 1,475 1,309
— Office equipment gooog 1 9
1,486 1,318
Expenses related to short-term leases oooooooooo - 1,958
Lease interest expenses gooooad 129 153
Total cash outflow for leases Oo0ooooogo 2,766 4,721
Additions to right-of-use assets ooooooao 7,496 55

“ETMEER . SHERMERGRAE
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

21.

The Group leases land and buildings and office
equipment. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed
period of 1 — 5 years (2023: 1 — 5 years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable
amount of its right-of-use assets in 2024 as a result
of the deterioration of the markets of the Group’s
services. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets of HK$7,146,000 (2023: HK$1,464,000) has
been determined on the basis of their value in use
using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The discount rate used was 12 per cent
(2023: 12 per cent).

20. EREEE OO

gbooooboooooond
gooooooococoooogn os
oooooooo1os0@mooon
oooooboocooooooooano
oo

gbooooboooooond
goboooooooooooooo
ooooooooooooooono
goooog7,14e0000 000000
got,d4e4,0000 00000000
gpbooboboboooooooo
gooooooooogogogoooo
12993 00000012% M

DEPOSITS PLACED WITH STOCK 21. FHRES X ZFAREE
EXCHANGE AND CLEARING HOUSE BiEE
2024 2023
—E_MmfF 00000
HK$000 HK$°000
FET ooo
Deposits with Hong Kong Stock Exchange goooooo 300 300
Stamp duty with Hong Kong Stock Exchange oooooooo 5 30
Deposits with Hong Kong Securities Clearing dooooooooo
Company Limited: ooo
Admission fee ood 150 150
Guarantee fund ood 150 150
605 630

Details of impairment assessment of deposits placed with
Stock Exchange and clearing house for the year ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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22. LOAN RECEIVABLES

22. EIRE

2024 2023
ZEZME 00000
HK$'000  HKS$'000
F#ET ooo

Loan receivables oooo 2,199 1,461
Provision for loss allowance oooooo (128) (128)
2,071 1,333

Loan receivables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
with interest rate of 2.75% - 48% per annum. The
loan amount with 1 — 5 years period term was lent to
an independent third party. The directors of the Group
monitored the collectability of the loan receivables closely
with reference to their respective current creditworthiness.
The Group has policy for impairment allowance which
is based on the evaluation of collectability of accounts
and on management’s judgment, including the current
creditworthiness, collaterals and the past collection history
of each client.

The maturity profile of loan receivables net of allowance
at the end of reporting period, analysed by the remaining
period to the contractual maturity date is as follows:

oooboooobooooooo
2.75%048%00 001050000
ooooooooooooooono
ooooooooooooooono
oooooooooobooooono
oooooooooooogoooo
oooooooooobooooooo
goooooooooogooooo
goo

oooooboooooogogoooo
gbobobooboboooooooo
gooooo

2024 2023
ZE@E 00000
HK$000  HK$'000
FET ooo

Within one year ooo 2,071 317
In the second year — five years oooooao - 1,016
2,071 1,333
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22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for loan receivables:

22. BEWERUOD

goodooooooooo

2024 2023
2 ME 00000
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET ooo
At the beginning and ending of oopoooooog
the reporting period 128 128

Details of impairment assessment of loan receivables for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out in

Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivable arising from the business of dealing in

goooooobooooooboooao
oooooooboooooboooao

goboooooooooooosd

23. FEURERFR

gobooooobooooobooboon

securities:
2024 2023
ZEZ@E 00000
HKS$'000 HK$000
FET ooo
Accounts receivable arising from the businessof OO0 OO00O0O0O
dealing in securities: ooood
— Clearing house oooo 9,614 -
— Cash clients oooono 375 1,597
— Margin clients oooooa 24,464 60,790
Accounts receivable arising from loan financing Ooooooooooo 14,376 17,183
Accounts receivable arising from oooooooo
supply chain financing ooono 115,150 38,994
163,979 118,564
Provision for loss allowance oooooo (11,513) (9,682)
152,466 108,882
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Accounts receivable from clearing house and cash clients
represent trades pending settlement arising from business
of dealing in securities which are normally due within
two trading days after the trade date. All accounts
receivable from clearing house and cash clients are
included in “neither past due nor impaired” category. The
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as the balances are
considered fully recoverable.

Accounts receivable from margin clients are recoverable
on demand or according to agreed repayment schedules,
and bearing interest at rates ranged from 5.38% to
48.00% as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 5.38% to 48.00%).
The credit facility limits to margin clients are determined
by the discounted market value of the collateral securities
accepted by the Group. The Group maintains a list of
approved stocks for margin lending at a specified loan-
to-collateral ratio. A margin call may occur when the
balances of the accounts receivable from margin clients
exceed the permitted margin loan limit, or when the
discounted market value of the collateral security is less
than the balances of the accounts receivable from margin
clients.

Accounts receivable from margin clients as at 31
March 2024 and 2023 were secured by securities
or debt instrument, which were pledged to Gaoyu
Securities Limited (Formerly known as Pacific Foundation
Securities Limited)("GSL"), the Company’s subsidiary,
as collaterals. The securities had a fair value of
approximately HK$165,613,000 as at 31 March 2024
(2023: approximately HK$473,907,000). The Group is not
prohibited to sell the collaterals upon customers’ default
or repledge the collaterals upon receiving customers’
authorisation.

23. FEWERFU OO

goooboboooooobobooo
oboooo0ooboooooonoao
goboooOoooOoooOooooo
gbooboooboooboobod
goooobboooooooboooo
goooboooooooooboobo
gboooooooobooboo
oooooood

goooobooooobooo
goobooooboboooboo
goooooooobobbooo
00538%048.00%0 000000
5.38%048.00% 00 00 00O0O0DO
goobobobooooobooa
goooobooooobooo
goboboboobobooooon
goooobooooobobooo
gooooOoOOooboooooon
ooooooooooooooo
gobobobooooboboood
gobooboooboooogn
gooooooob

I e

oboboobooboooooan
oooobobooobooooooo
gobouoboooboobognn
gbooobooooobooboo
ooo0boooOO0o0ooboOo GSL
goooooooooboboooo
oobobooooooooooan
165,613,0000 000000000
473,907,000 0000000 Ond
goooooboooooobooao
gobooooboooooo

I e
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 202400 000000000000 CODO

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EWERFU 0O

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held securities and
debt instrument as collaterals over these balances. As at
31 March 2024, 100% (2023: 100%) of the accounts
receivable from margin clients were secured by sufficient
collaterals on an individual basis. The management of
the Group has assessed the market value of the pledged
securities of each individual customer as at the end of
each reporting period and considered that no impairment
allowance is necessary taking into consideration of
client’s credit quality, collaterals provided and subsequent
repayment of monies. Except as described above, all
accounts receivable from margin clients are included in
“neither past due nor impaired” category.

As at 31 March 2024, accounts receivable from margin
clients include accounts receivable from directors of
the Company of approximately HK$886,000 (2023:
HK$692,000).

Except for the ageing of accounts receivable from margin
clients which are past due but not impaired, no ageing
analysis is disclosed for accounts receivable arising from
the business of dealing in securities as, in the opinion of
directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of broking
business.

Accounts receivable arising from loan financing are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars with interest rate
of 8% (2023:8%) per annum. The loan amount with 5
months period term was lent to an independent third
party and secured by the underlying listed shares and
personal guarantee provided by the shareholder of the
borrower. Before approving any loan to its clients in the
business of securities dealing and brokerage services, the
Group has assessed the potential client’s credit quality and
defined credit limits individually. The Group has policy for
impairment allowance which is based on the evaluation of
collectability of accounts and on management’s judgment,
including the current creditworthiness, collaterals and the
past collection history of each client.
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The loan financing was defaulted in early 2020, GSL has
been taking legal actions against the borrower and the
guarantor. The pledged shares were not deposited in the
securities account of the borrower with GSL at the time of
loan drawn down until the court granted an order to force
sell the pledged shares in July 2023. In August 2023,
the pledged shares were transferred to the borrower’s
securities account with GSL. GSL could then start
disposing the pledged shares to recover the loan position.

Given the pledged shares have been trading on HKEX,
market prices of the pledged shares were therefore used
as the benchmarks for estimating the loss allowance.
The recoverability of the loan is obviously related to the
market value of the underlying collaterals.

Reconciliation of loss allowance for accounts receivable

23. FEIRERFU OO

gooooooobooooobo
GSLOOO0OODOODOO0OO0OO0OOO
gobooobooboobooooo
gbooooooestooboooono
obDoooobDooooooDo
oobooOoooooooooogo
ooooOOoOoOooooGeslOoboOD
pgoooesSlbooooooooo
oooooood

oooooooboooooooDo
gboobooooobboooooo
gooooooooboboboogoooo
oooooobooooooooo
ooo

goooobooooobooo

arising from loan financing oo
2024 2023
“EM&E 00000
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET ooo
At the beginning of the Reporting Period oooooo 9,682 7,360
Increase in loss allowance for the year ooooooog 1,831 2,322
At the ending of the Reporting Period oooooo 11,513 9,682

Accounts receivable arising from supply chain financing
are denominated in US dollars with interest rate of 1.2%
per months. The loan amount with 90 days period term
and secured by the inventories stored in a warehouse,
which are controlled by the Chance Wise Holding
Limited (“Chance Wise”), the Company's subsidiary,
as collaterals. The Group is not prohibited to sell the
collaterals upon customers’ default.

00000000000 DoOoOn
00000000 1.2%00 00900
00000000000 DoOoOoD
00000000000 DOoOOOoD
00000000 0m#sEDD 00
0000000000 DOOOoOOD
Oooooooo
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Before approving any loan to its clients in supply chain
financing, the Group has assessed the potential client's
credit quality and defined credit limits individually. The
Group has policy for impairment allowance which is
based on the evaluation of collectability of accounts
and on management’s judgment, including the current
creditworthiness, collaterals and the past collection history
of each client.

As at 31 March 2024, the management of the Group has
assessed the current creditworthiness, collaterals and the
past collection history of each client of each individual
debtor and no impairment allowance is necessary taking
into consideration. All accounts receivable from supply
chain financing are included in “neither past due nor
impaired” category.

Subsequent to date of report, all the accounts receivable
arising from supply chain financing were fully settled.

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS
9 to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all accounts receivable. To
measure the expected credit losses, accounts receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

23. J%H&,EE?;U a0

goboboo0oooooboboooon
gboogoboooboooboon
ooobooobobobboobo
ooboobooboobooon
ooobObOooooobbOoo
ooboboooboboboonoo
ooooogoo

Ooooood

goboobogoobbooooooo
goboboooooobboooon
gogogooboooooooboboo
gbooooobobgoobobooboon
gobooboobooboooooon
gooomog

goboobobooobooobo
gobobooooboogooo

ooooooooooooogon
goboboooooobboooon
goboboooobbooobooobo
gooooboobboooooobobo
gbooooooobooobooobo
goboobooboboboooo
goooogooob

Over Over Over
30 days 60 days 120 days
Current  pastdue  pastdue  past due Total
i kst k'
B8 #B#30X  iBiBe0X iEBiB120% Wzt
HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$ 000
ooo ooo ooo ooo oon
At 31 March 2024 RZIEZME
=B=+-H
Weighted average expected METSRREEER
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 80%
Accounts receivables (HK$'000)  FEUERER (F3#7T) 149,603 - - 14,376 163,979
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EHERE (FET) - - - 11,513 11,513
At 31 March 2023 gooooa
gooooo
Weighted average expected lossrate 000000000 0% 0% 0% 56%
Accounts receivables (HK$'000) oo0o0oooooo 101,381 - - 17,183 118,564
Loss allowance (HK$'000) oooooooon - - - 9,682 9,682
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24. RENTAL AND UTILITY DEPOSITS 24. TAERKEEEHS

25.

26.

2024 2023
—E-mE 0o0oOO
HKS$'000  HK$'000

FET ooo

Rental deposits oooog 778 778
Utility deposits ooooo 140 50
918 828

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 25. M AFEGTAERZIEE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
—E-mEFE 0o0O0oOO
HK$000  HK$'000

FET ooo

Equity securities, at fair value gdooooooooo

Listed in Hong Kong ooooo 13,842 7,962
DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING 26. EUIFIER AR RTRIA
SHAREHOLDERS
The amounts due from non-controlling shareholder are 0oo0ooooooooooooog
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment ooooooooa
terms.
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27.

28.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances represent demand deposits at bank which
bear interest at the prevailing market rates.

The Group maintains segregated bank accounts to
hold customers’ deposits arising from normal business
transactions. The Group has recognised the corresponding
amount in accounts payable. The cash held on behalf of
customers is restricted and governed by the Securities
and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance.

Segregated accounts

From the Group's ordinary business in provision of
securities brokerage and related services, the Group
receives and holds money deposited by clients in the
course of the conduct of the regulated activities.
These clients’” monies are maintained in segregated
bank accounts at market interest rates. The Group has
recognised the corresponding accounts payables to
respective clients. At 31 March 2024, the segregated
accounts with authorised institutions in securities relation
to its brokerage business totaled HK$35,669,000 (2023:
HK$32,212,000).

House accounts

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and bank deposits at variable interest rate with original
maturity of three months or less.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLES

27. HERBITHEER

gbooooboooooond
goooood

oooooooooobooooooo
ooooooooobooooono
ooooooooobooooooo
gbooooboooooond
gbobobobobobooooo
ooo

BilRR
oooooooboooooboooDo
ooooooooooooboo
gooooooboooooboooao
goboooooooooooooo
goooooobboobooooono
ooooooooooooboooo
oooooooooobooooo
goooooooboobooooooDo
gooo35,6e69,00000000000
0032,212,0000 O M

YNSESS

goooobooooobooao
gooooobooooobooo
goooooooboobooo

28. FE{TER®X

2024 2023
ZE@E 00000
HK$'000 HK$000

FET ooo

Accounts payable arising from the business of

goooooooao

dealing in securities: ooood
— Clearing house oooag - 2,544
— Cash clients ooooo 35,061 31,155
— Margin clients oooooo 2,654 2,081
37,715 35,780
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ACCOUNTS PAYABLES (Continued)

Accounts payable to clearing house represent trades
pending settlement arising from business of dealing in
securities which are normally due within two trading days
after the trade date.

The accounts payable to cash clients and margin clients
are repayable on demand except where certain balances
represent trades pending settlement or deposits received
from clients for their trading activities under the normal
course of business. Only the amounts in excess of the
required deposits are repayable on demand.

Accounts payable to cash clients include amounts payable
to directors of the Company of approximately HK$1,000
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$50,000).

Accounts payable arising from the business of dealing
in securities are interest-bearing, except for amounts
representing pending trades payable to the clearing
house, cash clients and margin clients.

No ageing analysis is disclosed for accounts payable
arising from the business of dealing in securities as, in the
opinion of directors of the Company, the ageing analysis
does not give additional value in view of the nature of
broking business.

DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

The advances are denominated in US$, unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms.

28. FEERFU OO

gbooo0ooboooooonbd
oooooooooooooooano
ooooooooooo

ooooooDbDOooooooDo
goooobocoooogogoooao
oooooobooooooooo
ooooooooooooooon
obooooooboooooboonoo
ooo

goooooooobobooboogono
oooooobooooooooo
go1,00000000000050,000
gom

ooooooobooooooooDo
gbooboooboboooobooo
gdodoooooooooooo

goooobooooobooo
gboooboooooboboboo
gbooooobooooooonood
goooooooo

29. FE{t—FERAHGK QB FRIA

gbooobooboobobbooboo
goooooon
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

30. HthERIERETER

2024 2023

—E_mfF 0o0o000

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET ooo

Accruals oooog 1,096 731
Dividends payables oooo 81 76
Other payables oooooo 246 2,071
1,423 2,878

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

. HE&RE

Minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum
lease payments

RIEHEE I RIEBEMRIRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEZME 00000 ZTT@mE 0O00C0
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FET ooo FET ooo
Within one year oon 2,540 2,766 2,184 2,705
Over one year but within fiveyears 00000000 5,279 269 4,960 265
7,819 3,035 7,144 2,970
Less: Future finance charges gooooooo (675) (65) - -
Present value of lease obligations 0OO0O000O 7,144 2,970 7,144 2,970
Less: Amount due for settlement godno0o
within 12 months oooooooooa
(shown under current liabilities) oooooo (2,184) (2,705)
Amount due for settlement after 120000000
12 months oo 4,960 265

At 31 March 2024, the average effective borrowing rate
was 5% — 5.75% (2023: 3.48% — 5%). Interest rates are
fixed at the contract dates and thus expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL

32. g7

Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
EiRREE =X
‘000 HK$'000
on onon

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01
(2023: HK$0.01) each

Authorised: ooo
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

gobooddg

ooooooiboooooono
0.0100ooooog

uobobooooboboobooobn
gboboooboooon
gobooooobooa

8,000,000 80,000

Issued and fully paid: ooooooo

At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

googgao

goooooooobOboooooo
oooooooooooo
gooooooooo

2,000,000 20,000

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of
the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged during the reporting periods.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

GSL is registered with the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission (“SFC") for the business in which
it operates and is subject to liquid capital requirements
under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”). Under the SF(FR)R, it is
required to maintain liquid capital in excess of HK$3
million or 5% of the total adjusted liabilities, whichever is
higher. GSL had complied with the capital requirements
imposed by the SF(FR)R throughout the reporting periods.

Other than GSL, the Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements.

BEAREE
gbooobooooooboobog
gbooboooobooobooboo
gbooobooooboooboobog
gboboooooboboooboood

gooooobooooobooo
gbbooobobooooooogn

GSLO0O0 000000 OOoOoOoOO
OO SN0 000000000
00000000 mMOoOooDomo
MESHFRPE (MBER) RADO
00000000000 DOOOO
0000000 O0OO0O0DDOOOD
00O0O0O0Q0QQooos,000,0000
0000000000 05%000
DooOomeslooooooooo
00000000 00ODOODDO
ooooo

oesSlobooooooooooono
gooooaoono
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 32. lRA4voo
Gearing ratio BE&SBLEX
The management of the Group reviews the capital oo0o0o0ooooDoOooooooo
structure on an ongoing basis. As part of this review, the 0ooooooooooooooog
management of the Group considers the cost of capital ooooooDoDoooooooo
and the risks associated with each class of capital. ooo
The gearing ratio at the end of each reporting periods are ooooooooooooooog
as follows:

2024 2023
—E-mE 0o0oOdo
Notes HKS$'000  HK$'000

oo FAET ooo
Debts 00 (a) 35,532 14,692
Equity oo b) 153,895 143,805
Debt to equity ratio O0o00ooOoo 23.1% 10.2%
Notes: ooo
(@) Debts represent due to a related company and lease (@ 0OO0OO0ODDOOODOODOOOOO0O0O290
liabilities as set out in Note 29 and Note 31 to the 0031000000000000
consolidated financial statements. oooog
(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves. () ODOOODOODOOOOOO
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. AT FEIR AT
THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E_MF oO0000
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

oo FET ooo
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment ooooo 150 200
Investments in a subsidiary oooooooooo 78 78
228 278
Current assets WENEE
Prepayments oooo 1,156 999
Amounts due from subsidiaries oo0oooooo 54,763 56,304
Bank balances ogooo 60 1,449
55,979 58,752
Current liabilities mENEE
Other payables and accruals ooooooooooao 573 236
Net current assets mEEERE 55,406 58,516
Net assets BERE 55,634 58,794
Equity W
Share capital oo 32 20,000 20,000
Reserves 00 34 35,634 38,794
TOTAL EQUITY R AREE 55,634 58,794
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of oooooooDooooooog
Directors on 21 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 0oo0ooooooooogoooog
gooood
Fok Yuk Tong Hsieh Ching Chun
EXxE H 54
Director Director
oo oo
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34. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Share premium

Share premium is the net amount of (i) excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued at a premium, less
expenses incurred in connection with the issue of
the shares; and (ii) capitalisation issue of shares.

Other reserves

Other reserves represent (i) deemed capital
contribution of approximately HK$3,640,000 from
Mr. Lo Tak Wing Benson arising from the disposal
of a subsidiary during the year ended 31 March
2016; and (ii) the amount due to Mr. Lo Tak Wing
Benson of approximately HK$6,122,000 which was
capitalised during the year ended 31 March 2017.

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

34. {#E

(a)

(b)

A7 w8
Do000O0@MoODoOO00O0oDO
00000000000000
00000000000000
Dooo0O0G)Oooooo
0Doood

Hitf#
ooooo@GooooooO
0000000000000
0000000000000
000000000 3,640,000
000000000000
Doooo0oD0o0o00oO0o0o
DooooDooooO0oo
6,122,0000 OO

oooooooooo

Accumulated

Share premium losses Total
R iEE FctiEE st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
oon oon ooo
At 1 April 2022 gooooooooo 48,229 (4,629) 43,600
Loss and total comprehensive loss ooooooooooo
for the year - (4,806) (4,806)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 oooooo
gooooon
ooooooood 48,229 (9,435) 38,79
Loss and total comprehensive loss 0000ooooooo
for the year - (3,160) (3,160)
At 31 March 2024 0ooooo
gooooo 48,229 (12,595) 35,634
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35.

36.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The following table shows the Group’s changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities during the year:

35. MEEBFIEEREHER

gbooo0ooboooooonbd

ugooooooaoo

Due to a
related company Lease liabilities Total
e —F
o NS E S fHEaRE st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
oon oon ooo
At 31 March 2022 oooooo
oooooo - 5,525 5,525
Changes in cash flows oooooo 11,700 (2,763) 8,937
Non-cash changes ooooo
- interest charged oooooo 22 153 175
- additions of lease liabilities ooooooo - 55 55
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 oooooo
gopooooo
goboooooon 11,722 2,970 14,692
Changes in cash flows oooooo 16,666 (2,766) 13,900
Non-cash changes ooooo
- interest charged oooooo - 129 129
- additions of lease liabilities goooooo - 6,811 6,811
At 31 March 2024 oooooo
oooooo 28,388 7,144 35,532

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following

36. BAEKTT X5

obooooooboooooboooo

transactions with related parties: oo
2024 2023
—E_Wm&E 00000
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET ooo
Commission income from securities dealing BUWHEKKBEHXTZ R
and brokerage services received or KRB UWA
receivable from:
Directors of the Company ooooag 22 14
Interest income from margin financing BWEEKRREFEEME
received or receivable from: HFBUWA :
Directors of the Company ooooag 40 103
Expenses related to short-term leases EX(THEGHER
paid to: BRMNMBAX :
Entity controlled by a director of the Company doooooooooo 1,958

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

131



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e M IRRMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 000000 O0000D0OOCOOO

36.

37.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The balances with related parties have been disclosed in
Notes 23 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management includes directors and senior
management of the Group. The remuneration of key
management, including directors as disclosed in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statement, are as follows:

36. FAB AR F000

gbooooboooooond
0gd23028000

FEEEASHRM

obooooobooooooboonoao
goboobooobooboooba
oooooohwsooooboonoo
ug

2024 2023

“EINE 00000

HKS$000 HK$000

FET ooog

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind oooooooooo 3,813 4,251
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ooooooooag 929 90
3,912 4,341

The remuneration of senior management who are not the
directors of the Company whose emoluments fell within
the following band:

gooooobooooobobooo
googooaoo

Number of individuals
B8 AZ

2024 2023

ZEI@E ooooo

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 0 1,000,0000 O 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000 O O
1,500,0000 O - 1

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group offsets the following financial assets and
financial liabilities since it currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the balances, and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the balances
simultaneously.

Under the agreement signed between the Group and the
selected customers, money obligations receivable and
payable with the same customers on the same settlement
date are settled on net basis.
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37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 37. RHEMEEREMAER
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) ooo
Under the continuous net settlement, money obligations 0oo0ooooooooogooog
receivable and payable with Hong Kong Securities ooooooDoDoooooooo
Clearing Company Limited and other brokers on the same oo0ooooooooooooon

settlement date are settled on a net basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to AFEENEMEEREMEE
offsetting
The gross amounts of the recognised financial assets and oooooooDoooooooo
financial liabilities and their net amounts as presented in dddddddooooooooo
the consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows:
As at 31 March 2024 RZZE_WNE=A=+—H

Gross Related

amounts of Net amounts amounts not
recognised  of financial set off in the

financial assets consolidated

liabilities ~ presented  statement

Gross set off in the inthe of financial

amounts of consolidated consolidated position

recognised  statement  statement Financial

financial ~ of financial  of financial collateral
assets position position received Net amount

FRiza

REEHE MBRAR

Ve N HRSHRY

| MEBRRE EWERE

BREM R 2IMNER EHERN
HERE afBE HESE RERR e
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$ 000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
FET FAET FAET FHET FAET

Type of financial assets oooooo
Deposits placed with stock exchange 0000Oooooo
and clearing house oooooo 605 - 605 - 605
Accounts receivables arising from the ooooooooo
business of dealing in securities: ooooo
- Clearing house gooo 23,455 (13,841) 9,614 - 9,614
- Cash clients ooooo 375 - 375 - 375
- Margin clients oooooo 24,464 - 24,464 (24,464) -
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37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 37. IR EMEEREME R
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) ooo
Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to AIFIRENEHNEEREMEAE
offsetting (Continued) ooo
As at 31 March 2024 (Continued) RIE-MNME=RA=+—H/00
Gross Related

amounts of Net amounts amounts not
recognised  of financial set off in the

financial liabilities consolidated

assets  presented  statement

Gross set off in the inthe of financial
amounts of consolidated consolidated position

recognised  statement  statement Financial
financial ~ of financial  of financial collateral

liabilities position position received Net amount
KRGS
NS MBRAR

MBRRE R&RS 1RHRY

wa#Em  MBRER  AHEE

BREE @ EIERM 2WMER BHREN
REME REME ARPE  ERHERS #H8
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$ 000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FAET

Type of financial liabilities gooooo

Accounts payables arising from the ooooooooo
business of dealing in securities: ooooo
- Clearing house oooo 13,841 (13,841) - - -
- Cash clients ooooo 35,061 - 35,061 - 35,061
- Margin clients oooooo 2,654 - 2,654 - 2,654
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37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 37. B EMEERERAE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) ooo
Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to AIFIRENEMEEREMEAE
offsetting (Continued) ooo
As at 31 March 2023 gooooOoOoOoOoOooOoo
Gross Related

amounts of Net amounts ~ amounts not
recognised  of financial ~ set off in the

financial assets  consolidated

liabilities ~ presented  statement

Gross  set off in the inthe  of financial

amounts of  consolidated  consolidated position

recognised  statement  statement Financial

financial  of financial  of financial collateral
assets position position received  Net amount

oooo

000 ooooo

ooooo ooo ooo

000 00000 0ooo

oooao o000 ooooo 0ooo
oooao oooo o000 ooooo 00
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
oog ooo oog oog oog

Type of financial assets gooooao
Deposits placed with stock exchange 000000000
and clearing house oooooo 630 - 630 - 630
Accounts receivables arising fromthe  OOOO0O0O0O00O0O
business of dealing in securities: ooooo
- Clearing house gooo 1,722 (1,722) - - -
- Cash clients gooog 1,791 (194) 1,597 - 1,597
- Margin clients gooooo 60,860 (70) 60,790 (60,790) -
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37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to

offsetting (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023 (Continued)

37. BHEMEEREMARE

ooo

AFRENEREEREMER

oono

dooooooooooouoog

Gross

amounts of  Net amounts

Related
amounts not

recognised  of financial ~ set off in the

financial liabilities  consolidated

assetsset  presented  statement

Gross off in the inthe  of financial

amounts of  consolidated  consolidated position

recognised  statement  statement Financial

financial  of financial  of financial collateral
liabilities position position received  Net amount

oooo

oog goooo

ooooo goo ooo

oogd 00000 oooo

gooo opopoo 0Oo0ooo oooo
gooo oooo oooo 0bOooo oo
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
ooo ooo ooo ooo ooo

Type of financial liabilities gooooo
Accounts payables arising from the 0oooooooo
business of dealing in securities: ooooo

- Clearing house gooo 4,266 (1,722) 2,544 - 2,544
- Cash clients gooog 31,349 (194) 31,155 - 31,155
- Margin clients gooooo 2,151 (70) 2,081 - 2,081
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

38. ZAFMBATIRFE

COMPANY
Equity attributable
Name of Place of Place of Date of Issued and to the Group  Principal
subsidiary incorporation operation incorporation paid up capital At 31 March activities
WEAEAHE M SR BaAAzE BETRARRE FEERERE IEBXH
R=A=+-H
2024 2023
—E-mE 00000
Direct
B#
PF Group Holdings Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 11 October 2023 HK$10,000 100% N/A Investment holding
oo oo goooo 10,0000 O ooo 0000
ooooo
Dynamic Express Global ~ British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 1 June 2015 Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited Islands
oooooo oo goooooooo oo oooo
Perfect Ten Holdings British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 15 January 2021 US$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited Islands
gooooo oo goooo 10,0000 O oooo
ooooo
Indirect
3E3
Pacific Foundation Hong Kong HongKong 7 October 1993 HK$7 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
gooooooooo oo 0o ooooooooo 700 gooo
GSL Hong Kong Hong Kong 17 June 1987 HK$10,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of
(i) securities dealing
and brokerage services;
(ii) placing and
underwriting services;
(iil) financing services
including securities
and IPO margin
financing; and (iv) asset
management services
oo 0o goooo 10,000,0000 O oo@oooooon
goooo ooooooooo

oQ@ooooooo
ooobooooooo
0oooDO(wWooDo
ooo
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. ZAEMBABIRIFR 00
COMPANY (Continued)
Equity attributable
Name of Place of Place of Date of Issued and to the Group Principal
subsidiary incorporation operation incorporation paid up capital At 31 March activities
WEARLHE A EEhE A BEARMERET FEARGERE IERH
R=BA=+—-H
2024 2023

ZEmE0DDOOO

Gaoyu Finance Limited ~ HongKong ~ HongKong 15 November 2019 HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Money lending services
(Formerly known as PF
Finance Limited)

pooooooo oo oo goooo 1,000,0000 0 oooooo
00 O PF Finance oooooo
Limited
Jovial Victory British Virgin ~ Hong Kong 15 November 2021 US$5,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Global Limited Islands
oooooo OO goooo 50000 0 oooo
gooooo
Chance Wise HongKong ~ HongKong 15 November 2021 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Supply chain services
oo oo oo goooo 10,0000 O goooo
pooooo
Brothers Worldwide British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 27 September 2022 US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited Islands
oooooo OO goooo 50,0000 0 gooo
oooooo
Big Win Worldwide British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 27 September 2022 US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited Islands
gooooo OO goooo 50,0000 0 gooo
oooooo
Excellence International ~ British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 27 September 2022 US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited Islands
gooooo oo goooo 50,0000 0 gooo
gooooo
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tR e MR R ME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20240 00 00000000D0O0CDOOOO

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

39.

38. ZRFIMB AR 0O

Equity attributable
Name of Place of Place of Date of Issued and to the Group Principal
subsidiary incorporation operation incorporation paid up capital At 31 March activities
MEARLHE AMEIE EEME AR BEARMERET FEARGERE IERE
R=BA=+—-H
2024 2023
“E_mE 00000
UB Trust HongKong ~ HongKong 10 November 2022 HK$3,000,000 60% 60%  Investment holding
Company Limited
pooooooo oo oo ooooo 3,000,0000 O gooo
goooo
Gaoyu High Yield Income Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 18 December 2023 US$1 100% N/A~ Open-ended fund
Fund OFC
oo oo oooooooo 100 ooo ooooo
ooo
Gaoyu Global Master HongKong ~ HongKong 18 December 2023 US$1 100% N/A~ Open-ended fund
Fund OFC
oo 0o ooooo 100 000 0Ooooo
oooooo
Gaoyu Global HongKong ~ HongKong 25 March 2024 Us$1 100% N/A~ Open-ended fund
Infrastructure OFC
oo oo ooooo 100 000 0Ooooo
pooooo

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive lengths.

APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June

2024.

gooooobooooobooobood
good

oboooooobooooobooo
oboooooboooooonoo
oooDooooobpoobooooo
gbooooboooooonbd
gao

39. HL LGS HTEERER

goooboooboooooboan
gbbooobobooooobooogn
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R FRBHEE

O
RESULTS E 3 |
For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=1+—HLEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_F oooono goooo ooooo ooooo
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET ooo ooo ooo ooo
Revenue aad
Commission income from ooooooo
securities dealing and gopooooooo
brokerage services 2,073 1,234 2,957 7,837 6,956
Fee and commission income 0000000000
from placing and oopooooo
underwriting activities 2,436 396 - 508 10,986
Interest income frommargin - 0000000000
and loan financing and gopooooooo
money lending services opooo 8,990 8,061 4,404 5,036 8,506
Supply chain financing ooooo 8,430 2,024 - - -
Advisory fee incomes oooon 312 1,920 - - -
Fee income from asset gobooooooao
management services gooao 440 - - 1,567 662
Others 0o 910 120 83 1,500 3,795
Total revenue ooo 23,591 13,755 7,444 16,448 30,905
Bank interest income oooooao 690 384 171 256 346
Fair value change on coooooooo
investment at fair value gooooooa
through profit or loss 6,704 232 - - -
Other gains oooo 1,942 1,735 2,313 2,379 739
32,927 16,106 9,928 19,083 31,990
Commission expenses oooo (417) (416) (1,246) (2,850) (8,717)
Depreciation expenses for oooooo
property and equipment gooo (1,750) (1,766) (1,663) (250) (251)
Depreciation expenses for oooooo
right-of-use assets oooo (1,486) (1,318) (3,146) (4,727) (3,545)
Staff costs gooag (7,317) (8,021) (8,601) (15,967) (15,023)
Other operating expenses oooooo (10,525) (8,594) (7,866) (11,220) (10,396)
Finance costs oooo (129) (175) (176) (129) (274)
Exchange gain/(loss) ooooooooo 144 (3,023) - - -
Impairment of assets oooo (1,831) (2,322) (12,021) - -
Profit/(loss) before tax gooooooooo 9,616 (9,529) (24,791) (16,060) (6,216)
Income tax expense ooooan (726) - - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year ooO0o00OooCo 8,890 (9,529) (24,791) (16,060) (6,216)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE goododo goooao goooo goooo
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET ooo ooo ooo ooo
Total assets ooo 229,291 197,155 199,466 226,874 299,904
Total liabilities ooo (75,396) (53,350) (46,132) (48,749) (55,752)
Net assets gooa 153,895 143,805 153,334 178,125 244,152
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